
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422523

E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 7 January 2020

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 15 JANUARY 2020 AT 6.00 PM

THE FOUNTAIN CONFERENCE CENTRE, HOWBERY PARK, BENSON 
LANE, WALLINGFORD OX10 8BA

Members of the Committee:
Ian Snowdon (Chairman)
Peter Dragonetti (Vice-
Chair)
Ken Arlett
David Bretherton
Kate Gregory

Lorraine Hillier
Alexandrine Kantor
George Levy
Jo Robb

Ian White
Celia Wilson

Substitutes
Sam Casey-Rerhaye
Stefan Gawrysiak
Sarah Gray
Victoria Haval

Kellie Hinton
Mocky Khan
Axel Macdonald
Jane Murphy

Caroline Newton
Alan Thompson
Anne-Marie Simpson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on 
this agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic

Public Document Pack



2

 
1 Chairman's announcements  

To receive any announcements from the chairman and general housekeeping matters.

2 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.

3 Minutes of the previous meetings  (Pages 5 - 22)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meetings 
held on 2 and18 December 2019.  

4 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

5 Urgent business  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or 
withdrawn.

6 Proposals for site visits  

7 Public participation  

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.  

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.



3

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page

8 P19/S0058/FUL 
- Land to the 
south of Creek 
End, Abingdon 
Road, Burcot, 
OX14 3DJ  

Proposed erection of a detached 
five-bedroom dwelling and a 
detached double garage.

23 - 40

9 P19/S2517/FUL 
- The Old Post 
Office, 5 Wharf 
Road, 
Shillingford, 
OX10 7EW  

Three bay timber-framed and clay-
tiled roof with oak-clad garage and 
store.

41 - 52

10 P19/S2305/RM - 
Land off Cat 
Lane, 
Stadhampton  

Reserved Matters application 
following outline application ref. 
P16/S3690/O for the erection of two 
detached dwellings upon the building 
plot located off Cat Lane, 
Stadhampton for appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale. 
(As clarified and amended by 
revised drawings and contaminated 
land questionnaire accompanying 
Agents email dated 25 October 
2019). 
Development of two detached 
dwellings upon the building plot 
located off Cat Lane, Stadhampton.

53 - 68

11 P19/S2720/FUL 
- Unit 5, 
Goodson 
Industrial 
Mews, 
Wellington 
Street, Thame, 
OX9 3BX  

Redevelopment of an office building 
(Class B1(a)) to provide eight 2-bed 
apartments (Class C3) with 
associated access and landscaping 
works and the provision of access 
and landscaping improvements to 
office/industrial units (as amended 
by additional supporting information 
regarding highway issues received 
14 October 2019, and by amended 
plans received 29 November 2019, 
removing timber panelling from 
ground floor windows on the south 
elevation, proposing obscure glazing 
in two first floor windows on the east 
elevation, providing car parking 
spaces to standard, and providing 
internal elevations of lightwell / 

69 - 90



4

courtyard in centre of building).

12 P19/S0596/FUL 
- Chiltern 
House, 45 
Station Road, 
Henley-on-
Thames, RG9 
1AT  

Erection of a 3 bedroom apartment 
on the flat roof of the existing office 
building, using factory built modular 
construction techniques (revised 
plans received 12th November 2019, 
reducing the scale of the proposed 
building and amending the design; 
correction to eastern elevation, roof 
plan and balustrade detail on 6th 
December 2019).

91 - 
108

13 P19/S2313/FUL 
- Land adjacent 
to Village 
Green, 
Newlands 
Lane, Stoke 
Row, RG9 5PS  

Providing additional boundary 
treatment and amending garden 
levels following previous consent (as 
amended to reduce the proposed 
levels and realign fence).

109 - 
116



Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee

HELD ON MONDAY 2 DECEMBER 2019 AT 6.00 PM

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Present:

Peter Dragonetti (Chairman), Ken Arlett, Sarah Gray (substituting for Kate Gregory), 
Alexandrine Kantor, George Levy and Axel Macdonald (substituting for Celia Wilson)

Apologies:

Ian Snowdon, David Bretherton, Kate Gregory, Lorraine Hillier, Jo Robb, Ian White and 
Celia Wilson tendered apologies. 

Officers:

Paul Bateman, Paul Bowers, Sharon Crawford and Cathie Scotting

Also present: 

Sam Casey-Rerhaye and Andrea Powell

117 Chairman's announcements 

The chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed 
and advised on emergency evacuation arrangements.

118 Declarations of interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

119 Urgent business 

There was no urgent business.

120 Proposals for site visits 

There were no proposals for site visits.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



121 Public participation 

The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was tabled at the 
meeting.

122 P19/S2138/FUL - Land to the north of Fields End Farmhouse, 
Parsons Lane/Chaucer Court, Ewelme, OX10 6HP 

The committee considered application P19/S2138/FUL for the proposed erection of a 
detached dwelling house with associated parking and amenity space provision on land to 
the north of Fields End Farmhouse, Parsons Lane/Chaucer Court, Ewelme, OX10 6HP. 

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

David Solomon spoke on behalf of Ewelme Parish Council, objecting to the application.

Andrew Evans, a local resident spoke objecting to the application. 

Adrian Gould, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

Andrea Powell, the local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED; to grant planning permission for application P19/S2138/FUL subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Three-year time limit;
2. Approved plans;
3. Tree protection (prior to commencement);
4. Schedule of materials (prior to above-ground construction);
5. Planting scheme (trees and shrubs); 
6. Boundary enclosures (construction prior to occupation and retained);
7. Drainage (foul and surface water systems installed prior to occupation);
8. Provision of parking and turning areas (in accordance with full construction 

details, prior to occupation);
9. Access improvements (full construction details prior to occupation);
10. Public right of way - no obstructions/diversions; 
11. Unexpected contamination; 
12. External lighting restriction;
13. Removal of PD (Permitted Development) rights Classes A and E (AONB and 

conservation area reason). 

123 P19/S2865/RM - Land at Woodcote Road, South Stoke, RG8 0JJ 

The committee considered application P19/S2865/RM for approval of reserved matters 
relating to appearance, landscaping, layout and scale following application P17/S3206/O 
for residential development (up to 5 dwellings), and associated works, including access.  

Page 6



(As amended by Site Plan PP1012-A, Soft Landscape Plan 0747.1.1 Rev D, Landscape 
Visual Impact Assessment V4 01.10.19 and Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Update 2019 
and amended Construction Method Statement and visibility splays accompanying email 
from agent received 15 October 2019 and Arboricultural Method Statement updated 
October 2019 and Drainage Plan 003 Revision P10). Discharge of conditions 1-16 on 
application ref. P17/S3206/O on land at Woodcote Road South Stoke, RG8 0JJ.
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

In response to questions from the committee, the planning officer reported that tree 
officers had undertaken assessments of the trees on the site and had concluded that 
although they provided an attractive screen, they were not of sufficient quality to warrant 
tree preservation order (TPO) status. However, this did not prevent TPOs being applied for 
at some future point. The recommendation proposed a condition relating to Tree 
Protection.   
 
Councillor Bryan Urbick spoke on behalf of South Stoke Parish Council, objecting to the 
application.

Victor Meyer, a local resident spoke objecting to the application. 

Henry Venners, the agent, spoke in support of the application.
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED; to grant planning permission for application P19/S2865/RM subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Approved plans. 
2. Commencement - Reserved Matters Approval.
3. Schedule of Materials.
4. Landscaping implementation.
5. External Lighting. 
6. No additional windows, doors or other openings. 
7. Withdrawal of Permitted Development Rights.
8. Wildlife Protection (mitigation as approved).
9. Tree protection (implementation as approved).
10.  Surface water drainage works (details as submitted).
11.  New vehicular access.
12.  Vision splay protection.
13.  Parking and manoeuvring areas retained.
14.  Construction Traffic Management (details as approved). 
15. No garage conversion in to accommodation.

124 P18/S4261/FUL - The Chapel, Burcot House, Abingdon Road, 
Burcot, OX14 3DJ 

The committee considered application P18/S4261/FUL for the proposed conversion of the 
de-consecrated chapel to create a two bedroom dwelling house, with associated parking 

Page 7



and amenity space provision at The Chapel, Burcot House, Abingdon Road, Burcot, OX14 
3DJ.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

The planning officer reported that in paragraph 6.23 of the report, the word “not” should be 
omitted from the sentence, “As the chapel is not within Flood Zone 1…”. In response to 
questions relating to highways, the planning officer confirmed that the committee could not 
impose conditions on land outside the applicant’s control. 

Glenn Pereira spoke on behalf of Clifton Hampden Parish Council, objecting to the 
application.

Elaine Hornsby, a local resident spoke objecting to the application. 

Simon Oakland, a local resident spoke objecting to the application. 

Adrian Gould, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

Sam Casey-Rerhaye, the local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED; to grant planning permission for application P18/S4261/FUL subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Three-year time limit; 
2. Approved plans;
3. Submission of new window and door details (prior to      

installation);
Prior to the installation of any of the new doors and windows hereby 
approved full details (to include as a minimum, scale drawings 
illustrating the window/door designs, materials details, details of stone 
surrounds and sill/lintel details), shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. Thereafter the new windows 
and doors shall only be installed in accordance with the approved 
details. 

Reason: To ensure the significance of the non-designated heritage 
asset is preserved and in the interests of the character and 
appearance of the site in accordance with the aims of policies CSEN3 
and CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, policies D1 and G2 
of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan and paragraph 197 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

4. Provision of porous hard-surfaced off-road parking and turning areas 
(prior to occupation);
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the 
off-road parking and turning areas shall be constructed in full and 
made available for use in accordance with site layout drawing 

Page 8



no.S1/P/07 and in accordance with a written materials specification 
that shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The written details shall include (as a minimum) a 
photographic example of each material, the material name, 
manufacturer/supplier name and details of the 
permeability/porousness of the material (or details of proposed 
drainage measures). Thereafter the development shall be completed 
in accordance with the approved details and the parking and turning 
areas shall be retained unobstructed except for the parking of vehicles 
associated with the development at all times. 

Reason: In the interests of visual amenities, flood risk and to ensure 
the provision of sufficient off-road car parking areas in accordance 
with policies CSQ3 and CSEN3 of the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy 2027 and policies D1, D2, T1 and T2 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

5. Connection to foul and surface water drainage details (prior to 
occupation); 
The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into 
use until it has been connected to drainage systems for both foul and 
surface water disposal, the details of which shall first be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The details 
submitted shall demonstrate how the proposed drainage systems will 
be compliant with sustainable drainage (SuDS) principles and how 
surface water flood risk in the locality shall be managed within the 
development site. 

Reason: To prevent pollution and to ensure adequate drainage infrastructure 
is provided in accordance with Policies EP1 and EP6 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

6. Ecological mitigation (compliance with recommendations of eco appraisal); 
7. Removal of house holder permitted development rights;

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order), no development as described in 
Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A to F of the Order shall be undertaken without 
the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To ensure the significance of the non-designated heritage asset is 
preserved and in the interests of the character and appearance of the site in 
accordance with the aims of policies CSEN3 and CSQ3 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy, policies D1, D4 and G2 of the South Oxfordshire 
Local Plan and paragraph 197 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 9



125 P19/S0025/FUL - The Tennis Court, land to the east of Burcot 
House, Abingdon Road Burcot, OX14 3DJ 

The committee considered application P19/S0025/FUL for the proposed conversion of the 
existing B8 storage building to create 2 x four-bedroom dwellings with associated parking 
and amenity space provision (as amended by additional Flood Risk Information received 
on 24-04-2019 and revised plan received on 21-06-2019).  (Revised Flood Risk 
Assessment received 4 July 2019) at The Tennis Court, land to the east of Burcot House, 
Abingdon Road Burcot, OX14 3DJ.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.

The planning officer reported that on page 79 of the report, all the words under “Reason” 
should be omitted and replaced with the words, “To prevent additional floorspace being 
created, thereby reducing flood risk”.

Glenn Pereira spoke on behalf of Clifton Hampden Parish Council, objecting to the 
application.

Elaine Hornsby, a local resident spoke objecting to the application. 

John Blackwell, a local resident spoke objecting to the application. 

Adrian Gould, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

Sam Casey-Rerhaye, the local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED; to grant planning permission for application P19/S0025/FUL subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Three-year time limit; 
2. Approved plans;
3. EPS License;
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, including any site 
clearance or demolition, evidence of the successful receipt of a European protected 
species licence, or evidence of the successful registration of the site under the bat low 
impact class licence, from Natural England, specific to this development, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

Reason: To protect the important species on site, in accordance with Policy CSB1 of the 
SOCS, Policies C6 and C8 of the SOLP and paragraph 170 of the
NPPF.

4. Construction Traffic and Environmental Management Plan (pre-commencement);
5. Survey of road and required repairs (prior to commencement); 
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved a condition survey of the 
access road (that extends from the site to the eastern access point of the ‘Horseshoe 
Lane’ with the A415) shall be undertaken and submitted to the local planning authority. 
Prior to the occupation of the dwelling a scheme to restore the road and verges (to its 

Page 10



condition prior to the commencement of the development) shall be completed in 
accordance with a written scheme of restoration that shall first be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenities of neighbouring 
occupiers in accordance with Policies T1 and EP2 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 
2011.

6. Tree protection (in accordance with details to be submitted prior to 
commencement); 

7. Parking and turning; 
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the off-road parking and 
turning areas and access road passing places shall be constructed in full in accordance 
with site layout drawing no. 15117-TP13-A and in accordance with a written surface 
materials specification that shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The written details shall include (as a minimum) a photographic 
example of each material, the material name, manufacturer/supplier name and details of 
the permeability/porousness of the material. Thereafter the development shall be 
completed in accordance with the approved details and the parking and turning areas shall 
be retained unobstructed except for the intended use at all times. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the provision of off-street car 
parking in accordance with policies CSEN1 and CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy 2027 Policies D1, D2, T1 and T2 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

8. Drainage (prior to occupation);
The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into use until they have 
been connected to drainage systems for both foul and surface water disposal, the details 
of which shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
The details submitted shall demonstrate how the proposed drainage systems will be 
compliant with sustainable drainage (SuDS) principles. 

Reason: To prevent pollution and to ensure adequate drainage infrastructure is provided in 
accordance with Policies EP1 and EP6 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011. 

9. Site planting scheme;
The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into use until a scheme 
for the planting of trees, shrubs and hedges within the site has been carried out in full in 
accordance with written details that shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The written details shall include: 

- Details of the species, locations and numbers of all trees, shrubs and hedges to be 
planted; 
- written planting and maintenance specifications; 
- Plan showing all trees/hedges to be retained; 
- Plan showing all trees/hedges to be removed. 

In the event of any of the trees, shrubs or hedges planted as part of the approved scheme 
dying or being seriously damaged or destroyed within 5 years of the completion of the 
development, a new tree, shrub or hedge of equivalent number and species, or of a 
species and number as first approved by the Local Planning Authority, shall be planted 

Page 11



and properly maintained in a position or positions first approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

Reason: To help to assimilate the development into its surroundings in accordance with 
Policies CSEN1, CSEN2 and CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 and 
Policies C9, D1 G2, and H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

10. Ecology compliance with appraisal;
The development hereby approved shall be implemented strictly in accordance with the 
recommendations made in section 7 of the supporting Ecological Appraisal (Philip Parker 
Associates, 28/11/2018, Ref: P2018-49 R1 FINAL). Any variation from the approved 
details shall first be agreed in writing by the local planning authority prior to any such 
changes being implemented. This condition will be discharged through the receipt of a 
letter from the project ecologist, providing evidence that the details were implemented as 
approved. 

Reason: To minimise the impact of development on biodiversity, in accordance with Policy 
CSB1 of the SOCS, Policies C6 and C8 of the SOLP and paragraph 170 of the NPPF.

11. Domestic curtilage restriction; 
12. Removal of house holder permitted development rights;
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any Order revoking or re-enacting 
that Order), no development as described in Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A to F of the 
Order shall be undertaken without the prior written permission of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Reason: To ensure the significance of the non-designated heritage asset is preserved and 
in the interests of the character and appearance of the site in accordance with the aims of 
policies CSEN3 and CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, policies D1, D4 and 
G2 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan and paragraph 197 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

Part way through the consideration of this application, members took a vote, before the 
meeting guillotine of 8:30pm, to continue the item they were on.

126 P19/S0058/FUL - Land to the south of Creek End, Abingdon Road, 
Burcot, OX14 3DJ 

This application was deferred due to the meeting guillotine having been reached prior to its 
consideration. It will be considered at a later date, to be confirmed.

127 P19/S2517/FUL - The Old Post Office, 5 Wharf Road, Shillingford, 
OX10 7EW 

This application was deferred due to the meeting guillotine having been reached prior to its 
consideration. It will be considered at a later date, to be confirmed.

Page 12



The meeting closed at 8.50 pm

Chairman Date

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee

HELD ON WEDNESDAY 18 DECEMBER 2019 AT 6.00 PM

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Present:

Ian Snowdon (Chairman)

Peter Dragonetti (Vice Chairman), Ken Arlett, Kate Gregory, Lorraine Hillier, Alexandrine 
Kantor, Mocky Khan (substituting for Celia Wilson), George Levy, Jo Robb and Ian White

Apologies:

David Bretherton and Celia Wilson tendered apologies. 

Officers:

Paul Bateman, David Bell, Victoria Clarke, Paula Fox, Emily Hamerton, Marc Pullen, 
Davina Sarac and Tom Wyatt.

Also present: 

Anne-Marie Simpson

128 Chairman's announcements 

The chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed 
and advised on emergency evacuation arrangements.

129 Minutes of the previous meeting 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 27 November 2019 as a correct 
record and agree that the Chairman sign these as such.

130 Declarations of interest 

Ian White declared an interest in respect of item 13, application P19/S3202/HH, 50 High 
Street, Chinnor OX39 4DH, as he was friends with the owner and would therefore be 
stepping down from the committee for this item.

Public Document Pack

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



131 Urgent business 

There was no urgent business.

132 Proposals for site visits 

There were no proposals for site visits.

133 Public participation 

The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was tabled at the 
meeting.

134 P19/S2148/FUL - Land to north of Basset Shaw, Uxmore Road, 
Stoke Row, RG8 0TD 

Kate Gregory arrived partway through this item and took no part in the discussion or 
decision on the application.

Lorraine Hillier and Jo Robb, the local ward councillors, stood down from the committee for 
consideration of this item.

The committee considered application P19/S2148/FUL for the erection of a detached two-
storey dwelling house and an open-sided triple car port with associated turning and 
manoeuvring space and external amenity space (as amended by plans received 2019-07-
17) on land to north of Basset Shaw, Uxmore Road, Stoke Row, RG8 0TD.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

The planning officer reported that there had been no objections received from the public in 
respect of site-specific matters on this application, such as trees, ecology and highways. 
The committee considered that the development’s large windows could be the source of 
much light spillage into the dark skies of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB) and could disturb nocturnal wildlife. The requested that safeguards should be 
applied against this light disturbance, and requested an additional condition to cover this.

Adrian Gould, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

Lorraine Hillier and Jo Robb, the local ward councillors, spoke objecting to the application.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission, subject to an additional 
condition on light spillage, was declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED; to grant planning permission for application P19/S2148/FUL subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Commence development within three years - Full Planning     
Permission.
2. Development to be implemented in accordance with approved plans
3. A full schedule of all proposed external materials to be     
submitted and approved.

Page 16



4. Wildlife mitigation in accordance with preliminary ecological      
appraisal. 
5. Landscaping to be implemented in accordance with      
landscaping proposals plan.
6. Tree protection measures as identified by arboricultural  method statement to be 
implemented prior to commencement.
7. Any south facing or north facing first floor windows to be obscure glazed.
8. Additional condition on ‘light spillage’.

135 P19/S1634/FUL - 22 Oakley Lane, Chinnor, OX9 3SE 

Ian White, a local ward councillor, stood down from the committee for consideration of this 
item.

The committee considered application P19/S1634/FUL for the erection of a single storey 
2-bedroom dwelling (revised access and parking layout and vehicle tracking details as 
shown on amended plans received 9th August 2019) at 22 Oakley Lane, Chinnor, OX9 
3SE.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

Councillor Gordon Archer, a representative of Chinnor Parish Council, spoke objecting to 
the application.

Peter Emmett, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

Ian White, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED; to grant planning permission for application P19/S1634/FUL subject to the 
following conditions:

1.   Commencement of development within three years - full planning            
      Permission.
2.   Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
3.   No change in levels.
4.   Schedule of Materials to be submitted and agreed prior to foundation     
      level.
5.   Withdrawal of Permitted Development rights for extensions, roof    
      extensions and outbuildings.
6.   New vehicular access implementation and retention as on plan.
7.   Vision splay protection implementation and retention as on plan.
8.   Parking and manoeuvring areas implementation and retention as on plan. 
9.   Landscaping (planting, hard surfacing and boundary treatment) to be 
      submitted and agreed prior to foundation level.
10. Highways Informatives.

Page 17



136 P19/S2241/FUL - Anstey Wood Lane, Gallowstree Common, RG4 
9BG 

Peter Dragonetti, the local ward councillor, stood down from the committee for 
consideration of this item.

The committee considered application P19/S2241/FUL for the conversion of existing 
outbuilding including the demolition of the existing timber frame extension to be replaced 
with a traditionally constructed extension over the same footprint to create a two-bed 
annex. Formalisation of SUDS roadway and lowering of existing front wall (as amended by 
plans received 26 July 2019 and 6 September 2019 removing boundary treatment 
between the dwelling and annex and showing foul drainage) at Anstey Wood Lane, 
Gallowstree Common, RG4 9BG.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

The planning officer reported that Kidmore End Parish Council had withdrawn their 
objection to the application. This had occurred after the publication and despatch of the 
agenda. No reason had been given for the withdrawal.

It was also reported that the proposed conditions removed permitted development rights 
on fencing around the property to preserve the character of the site. 

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED; to grant planning permission for application P19/S2241/FUL subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Commencement within three years.
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans.
3. Development to be completed in materials as on plan
4. Parking and manoeuvring areas to be provided and retained
5. Tree protection / replace trees if removal required (details required)
6. Surface water drainage works (details required)
7. Foul drainage works (details required)
8. Withdrawal of permitted development rights (Part 2 Class A) - no walls, fences without 
planning permission

Informatives:

1. Annex occupation and use to be ancillary to the dwelling “Anstey”.
2. Bat (detailed informative).
3. Wild birds.

137 P18/S2811/FUL - Chislehurst, Hithercroft, South Moreton 

The committee considered application P18/S2811/FUL for the demolition of existing 
extension and ancillary buildings and the erection of an additional new dwelling, with 
associated works.  As clarified by revised flooding information submitted on 20.01.2019 
and as amended by drawing numbers 746-LO2A, P01A and P12A accompanying agent’s 

Page 18



email dated 14 February 2019 (revising the siting of the dwelling).  As further clarified by 
flood note accompanying agent’s email dated 5 March 2019, at Chislehurst, Hithercroft, 
South Moreton.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

The Officer had several updates.  Firstly, in addition to the representations made by 
neighbours which were detailed at paragraph 3.3 in the report, the planning officer 
reported that three additional letters of support had been received and one of objection.  

Also, since the publication of the report, works had been carried out to the access track 
from the main road to the site by the owners (not the applicants).  The Planning Officer 
had requested that Oxfordshire County Council Highways provided updated comments on 
this.  Following a site visit made by Oxfordshire County Council, they confirmed that the 
works to the access would not result in them changing their view on the application and 
they did not raise an objection or recommend any conditions. 

The Planning Officer also suggested that a landscaping condition was proposed, covering 
the boundary treatment and hardstanding. Additionally, to protect the flood zone and 
nearby neighbours’ amenity, a condition was proposed to restrict permitted development 
rights to extend the house, install additional windows, make roof alterations and add 
outbuildings.

It was noted that three members of the committee had attended a site visit in respect of 
this application. David Bell, a senior drainage engineer from the council, was present to 
answer any questions relating to drainage and flood risk. 

The planning officer reported that a new dwelling, on balance, was acceptable and not 
harmful to the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), as in principle it constituted 
infill and was surrounded by other dwellings. Also, the Environment Agency had objected 
to the application on the grounds of flood risk, but the senior drainage officer had proposed 
measures, contained in the recommendations, to ensure that the dwelling would remain 
viable and at minimal flood risk.

Richard Macdonald, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application. 

Penny Mitchell, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.

Andrew Bateson, the agent, spoke in support of the application.

Anne-Marie Simpson, a local ward councillor, spoke in support of the application.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission, subject to the additional 
conditions relating to the boundary treatment, flood resilience, and permitted development 
rights, was declared carried on being put to the vote.

RESOLVED; to grant planning permission for application P18/S2811/FUL subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Commencement three years.
2. Sample materials. 

Page 19



3. Landscaping condition to include hardstanding and boundary details
4. Remove permitted development rights 
5. Drainage – surface and foul water details to be submitted. 
6. Flood water calculations and storage details. 
7. Flood phasing plan showing compensatory flood water storage. 
8. Maintenance strategy explaining how the flood water storage area will remain clear 

and operational.  
9. Flood resilience measures to be included in the design. 
10. Tree protection. 
11. Additional condition; restrict permitted development rights on extensions, additional 

windows, roof alterations and outbuildings.

Informative 
1. Bat protection – precautionary.

138 P19/S2513/FUL - 25 Croft Way, Woodcote, RG8 0RS 

Lorraine Hillier and Jo Robb, the local ward councillors, stood down from the committee for 
consideration of this item.

The committee considered application P19/S2513/FUL for the proposed demolition of 
detached brick garage and construction of a new three bedroomed bungalow with a 
double pitched roof to the rear of 25 Croft Way (as amended by plans 2019-10-16 to 
reduce size of dwelling, re-orientate the boundary between site and no.25 Croft Way and 
to clarify vehicle swept paths for servicing/emergency vehicles) at 25 Croft Way, 
Woodcote, RG8 0RS.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

The planning officer reported that an additional condition was proposed relating to ground 
levels prior to the commencement of the development, in view of the excavation which 
would be required.

Councillor Malcolm Smith, Vice Chairman of Woodcote Parish Council, spoke objecting to 
the application.

Hattie Vail of SLR Consulting and on behalf of the applicant, spoke in support of the 
application.

Lorraine Hillier and Jo Robb, the local ward councillors, spoke objecting to the application.

Contrary to the officers’ recommendation for approval, there was concern regarding the 
close proximity and restricted width of the proposed access, and the resulting cramped 
and unneighbourly backland form of development, to the detriment of the amenity of some 
neighbours in Croft Way. Additionally, the application was contrary to relevant South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 and Woodcote Neighbourhood Plan 2014 policies. A motion 
moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission was declared carried on being put to 
the vote; 

Page 20



RESOLVED; to refuse planning permission for application P19/S2513/FUL owing to the 
following;

1. By reason of the close proximity and restricted width of the proposed access, the 
proposed development would result in a cramped and unneighbourly backland form of 
development, to the detriment of the amenity of numbers 25 and 27 Croft Way. As 
such, the proposed development is contrary to saved Policies H4 and EP2 of the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 and Policy H10 of the Woodcote Neighbourhood 
Plan 2014.

139 P19/S3202/HH - 50 High Street, Chinnor, OX39 4DH 

Ian White, a local ward councillor, stood down from the committee for consideration of this 
item. He had also declared an interest in this application and left the room during the 
debate and vote.
 
The committee considered application P19/S3202/HH for alterations to roof of existing rear 
extension; single-storey extensions to rear and flank of existing rear extension; associated 
works to retain raised garden areas (variations following the grant of Permission 
P18/S3149) at 50 High Street Chinnor, OX39 4DH.

Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the meeting.

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on 
being put to the vote.

RESOLVED; to grant planning permission for application P19/S3202/HH subject to the 
following conditions:

1. Commencement of development within three years.
2. Development to be in accordance with approved plans.
3. Tree protection details to be agreed prior to 

commencement of development
4. Materials to be as specified on application drawings and forms.

The meeting closed at 8.20 pm

Chairman Date

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0058/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 8.1.2019
PARISH CLIFTON HAMPDEN
WARD MEMBER(S) Sam Casey-Rerhaye
APPLICANT Mr N Mullard & Mrs F Brann
SITE Land to the south of Creek End Abingdon Road 

Burcot, OX14 3DJ
PROPOSAL Proposed erection of a detached five bedroom 

dwelling and a detached double garage.
OFFICER David Millinship

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application was deferred from the committee meeting on 2 December 2019 due 

to the meeting guillotine having been reached prior to its consideration.

1.2 The application has been referred to planning committee due to conflict between the 
Officer’s recommendation and the views of the parish council (objections due to the 
inadequate access).

1.3 The application site comprises an area of mostly open grassland set within a wider 
suburban housing development in the rural village of Burcot. The site and village are 
entirely washed over by the Oxford Green Belt. 

1.4 The site lies off a private road to the south of the A415 that also provides shared 
access to a number of mainly domestic properties. The easternmost area of the site is 
populated by a number of mature trees (predominantly oak) and has recently been 
subject to a Tree Preservation Order (TPO). There are also three Cypress trees 
grouped along the northern boundary, three Cypress trees grouped in the south-
western area of the site and a nearby walnut tree that are also under TPO.

1.5 Residential properties share the northern and eastern boundaries with the private 
drive skirting the western and southern boundaries with other residential properties 
beyond. The buildings in the area are a mixture of historic properties (including Burcot 
House) with late C20 dwellings infilling the land between Burcot House (to the south) 
and the A415 (to the north). There is little uniformity between the scale and design of 
individual buildings or plot layouts. The majority of buildings and plots in the area are 
large, set out in irregular layouts with some pockets of tree planting that have 
remained undeveloped. 

1.5 A plan identifying the site is attached as Appendix 1.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The proposal is to construct a detached five-bedroom dwelling with vehicular access 

from the private lane within the western area of the site. Off-road parking and turning 
areas would be constructed with a detached double garage in the north-western site 
area. The dwelling would be a two-storey pitched roof building set broadly central to the 
site. The dwelling would be set out in an L-shape with its principal elevation facing 
west. It would occupy an external footprint of approximately 215 sq.m providing around 

Page 23

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0058/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

320 sq.m of internal living space across the two floors. It would have a maximum ridge 
height of 8.8 metres with eaves heights of between 4.5-5 metres. 

2.2 The garage would be a 1.5 storey building with a ridge height of 6 metres and an eaves 
height of 2.4 metres. It would occupy a footprint of 53 sq.m with space for the parking of 
two cars at ground level with an attic storage space within the roof space above. Some 
additional tree planting is proposed within the site and two passing places would also 
be provided to serve the private drive. One would be within the north-western site area 
(next to the access) and one to the south-east of the site where an existing site access 
appears to be present. 

2.2 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Clifton Hampden Parish Council – Objection.

The access to the property is inadequate;

OCC Archaeological Services – No objection.
The proposals outlined would not appear to have an invasive impact upon any known 
archaeological sites or features and there are no archaeological constraints to this 
scheme;

Forestry Officer - No objection
Initial concerns were made over the potential impact of the passing place adjacent to 
the site access to damage the roots of a tree on the site. A revised site layout was 
submitted, and no further objection was made. 

SGN Plant Protection - No objection

OCC Highways Liaison Officer - No objection 
Subject to conditions to ensure the new access, off-road parking and turning areas are 
provided and the garage is retained for the parking of vehicles. A Grampian condition 
requiring off-site highway works (i.e. provision of a passing place) is also requested.  

Neighbour responses
Six third party responses were received from neighbouring occupiers as a result of the 
public consultation. Three responses raised objections to the scheme, which have been 
summarised as follows:

 The new dwelling would be too large and should be of a scale akin to the 
building at Creek End;

 The site has been open land in the Green Belt for over 50 years, the site area is 
also over the 0.2ha permitted to be infill development;

 The development conflicts with Section 13 of the NPPF as it would be 
inappropriate development; 

 Allowing this site to be developed (along with the other current planning 
applications) raises significant environmental and biodiversity concerns;

 Trees have been felled within the wider estate, further tree felling should not be 
permitted and the trees in the eastern area of the site should be protected from 
future development;

Page 24

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

 The additional traffic movements (particularly construction traffic) will cause 
damage to the lane that would be the responsibility of the homeowners to 
repair; 

 Additional traffic would make the accesses onto the A415 more unsafe than 
they currently are and the accesses and road will need to be upgraded and 
made wider to allow two vehicles to pass each other;

 The proposed passing places are too far from the A415 junction and are not 
visible, so vehicles will still have to drive across neighbour’s property to pass 
each other between the site and main road;

 Disagree with the findings of the transport statement as the Tennis Court 
building and current application site have generated little to no traffic for a 
number of years, due to major development along the A415 that road has 
become much busier over recent years;

 The application should be assessed in conjunction with the Tennis Court and 
Chapel applications as the cumulative impacts of all of these developers will 
make impacts more severe; 

 Surface water flooding has occurred in the locality due to run-off from farmland 
to the north and the poor state of the road drainage along the A415. The road 
drainage would need to be upgraded and assurances given that the 
development of Plot 3 would not lead to increased flooding in the future;

 Habitat available to local wildlife would be damaged;
 Below ground utilities and services run through Plot 3 to neighbouring 

properties;
 Many properties that would be affected by the development have not been 

consulted. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P19/S0025/FUL – Approved at committee meeting on 2 December 2019  

Proposed conversion of the existing B8 storage building to create 2 x four-bedroom 
dwellings with associated parking and amenity space provision (as amended by 
additional Flood Risk Information received on 24-04-2019 and revised plan received on 
21-06-2019). (Revised Flood Risk Assessment received 4 July 2019).  

P18/S4261/FUL – Approved at committee meeting on 2 December 2019  
Proposed conversion of the de-consecrated chapel to create a two bedroom dwelling 
house with associated parking and amenity space provision.

P17/S3232/FUL - Approved (06/11/2017)
Conversion of existing garage and garage extension. To create annex to property as 
amplified by applicant email dated 6 October 2017.

P17/S1432/PEM – Response (17/07/2017)
1. Proposed conversion of the former tennis court building to create 2 dwellings with 
associated parking and amenity space. 2. Erection of a single detached dwelling and 
detached garage at land to south of Creek End
 
P16/S0543/PEM – Response (10/03/2016)
Proposed erection of a single detached dwelling house and detached garage

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires applications 

for planning permission be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority shall have regard to the 
provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other 

Page 25

http://sav-intranet.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk/jsp/packages/planning/PA_Summary.jsp?REF=P19/S0025/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/S4261/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S3232/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/S1432/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S0543/PEM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

material considerations. The council’s adopted development plan comprises the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan (SOLP). The relevant polices and supporting guidance are listed below.

5.2 Development Plan:
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies:
 CS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development;
 CSS1 – The Overall Strategy;
 CSR1 – Housing in Villages;
 CSEN1 – Landscape; 
 CSEN2 – Green Belt;
 CSQ3 – Design;
 CSB1 – Conservation and improvement of biodiversity.

South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) policies:
 H4 – Housing in villages;
 C6 – Biodiversity;
 C8 – Protected species;
 C9 – Landscape features;
 D1 – Good design and local distinctiveness;
 D2 – Vehicle and bicycle parking;
 D3 – Outdoor amenity space;
 D4 – Neighbouring amenities;
 G2 – Protecting the district from adverse development; 
 GB4 – Green belt (visual amenity); 
 T1 – Safe access;
 T2 – Parking and turning. 

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan:
 The Parish of Clifton Hampden are currently preparing a neighbourhood plan. 

The neighbourhood area was formally designated in September 2014. The 
parish council has started the process of gathering evidence and engaging with 
the local community. As the plan remains at an early pre-draft stage is 
possesses only very limited weight in the assessment of this application. 

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents:
 South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016).

5.5 National Planning Policy:
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF);
 National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).

5.6 Emerging local plan
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF. 

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034.
The council has submitted the Local Plan 2034 to the Planning Inspector for an 
independent examination following public consultation. 
  
On 10 October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034. The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. This means that the emerging plan 

Page 26



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The emerging Local Plan has no weight 
at this stage.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The application site is located within a rural village that is washed over by the Oxford 

Green Belt. Therefore, the main issues to consider are as follows:

 The principle of the development having regards to the housing delivery 
and Green Belt policies of the development plan;

 Highways impacts;
 Impact on neighbouring properties;
 Drainage and flood risk;
 Impact on trees

6.2
Principle of development – new housing
Policy CSS1 of the SOCS details the spatial strategy for new development across the 
district during the plan period. It sets out a settlement hierarchy that seeks to direct 
major new development to the growth point of Didcot, with smaller developments 
supported in the main towns and various sizes of village across the district, specifically:

(iv) supporting other villages in the rest of the district by allowing for 
limited amounts of housing and employment and by the provision and 
retention of services; and
(v) outside the towns and villages, and other major developed sites, 
any change will need to relate to very specific needs such as those of 
the agricultural industry or enhancement of the environment.…

So, the general principle of new residential development is supported if the site is within 
the built-up limits (BuL) of a village. The site is considered to be within the built-up limits 
of Burcot which is defined as a ‘smaller village’ within the SOCS. The site is surrounded 
by existing residential development and even in an undeveloped state the site 
character, and that of the wider area is distinctively that of an upmarket suburban area. 
There is little argument that the site is located in open countryside and I consider the 
broad principle of new housing development in this location is supported by the overall 
development strategy. 

6.3 SOCS policy CSR1 states that new housing will be supported within the ‘smaller 
villages’ providing that it is a form of infill development on sites less than 0.2ha in area 
(equivalent to 5-6 houses). In this case, the Plot 3 site is marginally over 0.2ha in total 
area but, around a third of the eastern area of the site is woodland now under TPO. 
The actual development site is less than 0.2ha. Whilst the proposal is for one large 
house within a spacious plot, I find this would not be out-of-character with the dwelling 
and plot sizes in the locality. SOLP policy H4 states that proposal for new housing 
within the built-up areas of villages will be permitted providing:

i. an important open space of public, environmental or ecological value is not lost, 
nor an important public view spoilt;

ii. the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are in 
keeping with its surroundings;

iii. the character of the area is not adversely affected;
iv. there are no overriding amenity, environmental or highway objections; and
v. if the proposal constitutes backland development, it would not create problems 

of privacy and access and would not extend the built limits of the settlement.

Page 27



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

I do not consider the proposal would conflict with points i or v although it is noted that 
several trees within the site have been placed under Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 
since the submission of the application. The proposal would not directly impact on 
these trees and they are proposed to be retained. The remainder of the site is open and 
flat, predominantly given over to grass. Generally, I consider it would be possible for the 
development to comply with the remaining criteria (although this will be assessed in 
greater detail below. As such, I am satisfied that the general principle of the new 
dwelling in this location is supported by SOCS CSR1 and SOLP policy H4 (subject to 
the more detailed considerations below). 

6.4
Principle of development – Green Belt
The site (and wider village) is within the Oxford Green Belt, where new development is 
strictly controlled. Policy CSEN2 defers to the NPPF for most types of development. 
NPPF Paragraphs 145 and 146 define various types of development that are 
considered to be not inappropriate. In this case, the proposal has potential to be 
included within para. 145(e) as a form of limited infilling within a village. As above, I 
accept the development is an infill site (as it is surrounded by existing residential 
properties) and I accept that as a proposal for one dwelling it is limited in scale. As 
such, I conclude the proposal is a form of not inappropriate development within the 
Green Belt and is supported in general principle by the housing delivery and Green Belt 
policies of the development plan. 

6.5
Highways impacts
SOLP policy H4 seeks to resist new residential development that would result in 
adverse impacts to the safety and operation of the public highway. SOLP policies D2, 
T1 and T2 together seek to ensure that all new development has safe access and 
sufficient off-road parking and turning areas. As stated above, the site is accessed from 
the public highway (A415) by a stretch of private road over a distance of approximately 
110 metres to the site. The Plot 3 site offers more than sufficient space to allow for 
provision of off-road parking and turning areas. As such, I am satisfied the provisions of 
SOLP policies D2 and T2 would be met. 

6.6 However, the existing private road (referred to locally as the ‘Horseshoe Lane’) is not 
well-surfaced, has no pedestrian footway and lacks sufficient width to allow two 
vehicles to pass along much of its length. The Horseshore Lane has two access points 
with the A415. Both are considered to possess good visibility and are set back from the 
carriageway by approximately one car length. Both accesses are bell-mouth designed, 
wide enough to allow a car to enter and exit at the junction with the public highway. 
However, at both the eastern and western access points the private road narrows to a 
single width in close proximity to the access so there would be some potential for 
conflict between vehicles (travelling in opposing directions) at these points. The Plot 3 
site is located in closer proximity to the western access so it is reasonable to expect the 
greatest impact would be to the western half of the Horseshoe Lane. 

6.7 The applicant has submitted a transport assessment to attempt to demonstrate that the 
combined impacts of the two residential developments at the Tennis Court and Plot 3 
sites would not be harmful in comparison to the fall-back position. The vehicle 
movements of the lawful fall-back use(s) of the sites are assessed against the expected 
traffic movements associated with the residential developments and it has been 
concluded the fall-back use has a greater potential to be harmful. The chapel 
conversion development has not been included within the transport assessment but, 
the applicant has concluded that its conversion would not be harmful in addition to the 
greater impacts of the other developments and I do not dispute this view. 

Page 28



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

6.8 The applicant also acknowledges that the Plot 3 site will generate additional traffic 
movements over and above the fall-back use of that site (as it currently has no 
particular use in planning terms). However, the transport statement reasons that the 
established use of the Tennis Court building (a B8 storage and distribution use) could 
generate a significant number of vehicle movements (including large commercial 
vehicles) if it remained in a business use class. These uses have been assessed 
against the TRICS database, a nationwide dataset that provides a typical traffic 
generation rate for various planning uses in comparative locations across the UK. It is 
suggested by the TRICS data that a B8 use of the Tennis Court building could generate 
up to 25 traffic movements per day, potentially involving larger commercial vehicles. If 
permitted development rights were exercised to change the use of the building into B1 
(office) use this number would be likely to increase.  

6.9 The TRICS data provided by the applicant suggests that two 4-bedroom dwellings 
could generate up to 20 vehicle movements per day (reasonably considered to be 
domestic vehicles). The applicant’s conclusion is that the potential for traffic generation 
from the lawful and permitted uses of the tennis court building would be greater than 
the traffic generation for the proposed residential developments. On that basis, the 
developments are not considered to justify improvements to the Horseshoe Lane or its 
junctions onto Abingdon Road. I do not fully accept that the maximum vehicle 
movements suggested by the TRICS data would realistically materialise over time in 
this location. Burcot is a rural village. Many of the TRICS data examples given are edge 
of town locations so not entirely comparable in my view. The site is located in fairly 
close proximity to Culham Science Centre and the larger settlements of Dorchester-on-
Thames and Berinsfield so some level of potential future commercial use must be 
reasonably accepted. 

6.10 The County Council Highways Liaison Officer has reviewed the Transport Statement 
and has offered no objection in terms of the impact of the development on users of the 
public highway. It was informally agreed that the maximum vehicle movements 
(assumed to be generated by the fall-back uses) are unlikely to be realistically reached 
given the rural village location and condition of the private road. However, it was 
acknowledged that commercial storage and business uses are not uncommon in rural 
village locations across the district, so some level of commercial vehicle use is 
accepted. The proposed residential conversions would prevent more intensive 
commercial uses being established which is considered to be to the merit of the 
proposals in terms of highway impacts.

6.11 Notwithstanding the above assessment, negotiations were ongoing with the applicant 
over the specific highway impacts of the Plot 3 development (as assessed on its 
individual site impacts there is no viable fall-back use). A tree in proximity to the original 
access location was also placed under TPO during the early stages of the application 
assessment. As such, a revised site layout plan was submitted. This included the 
creation of additional (and better located) passing places to directly serve the stretch of 
the Horseshoe Lane skirting the site. I note third party objections that suggest the 
proposed passing places are not proposed to be created in the most useful locations 
but, I must accept they are on land within the applicant’s ownership so can realistically 
be constructed. In my view, this is sufficient to mitigate the impact of the new dwelling 
proposed for the Plot 3 site. Planning conditions can be used to ensure they are 
constructed prior to the first occupation of the development. 

6.12 In my view, there is an argument that mitigation can be sought to minimise potential 
damage to the lane during the construction period of the development. If damage is 
caused it appears reasonable to require the private road is reinstated to its condition 
prior to the construction works taking place. Seeking improvements to the lane (over 

Page 29



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

and above its existing condition) would be unreasonable as they are not considered to 
be required to mitigate the development and such a requirement would be straying into 
private, rather than public interests. A construction traffic and environmental 
management plan (CTEMP) can be required (by condition) to be submitted prior to the 
commencement of the development. 

6.13 On balance, I am satisfied that subject to the recommended conditions the 
development would not conflict with the aims of SOCS policy CSQ3 or SOLP policies 
D1, D2, G2, H4, T1 or T2. 

6.14
Impact on neighbours
Third party concerns have been raised over the impact of the new dwelling on 
neighbouring residential amenities (particularly those of the occupiers of Creek End to 
the north). The SODG sets out minimum separation distances that will preserve privacy 
to neighbouring occupiers. In this case, the separation distances between the proposed 
dwelling at the Plot 3 site and neighbouring dwellings are greatly over the minimum 
recommended distances. The closest neighbouring dwelling at Creek End to the north 
shares a densely vegetated boundary with the site. Some mutual overlooking from 
upper floor windows could occur, but this would be mostly screened by existing trees 
and hedges (proposed to be retained) and would be over more than sufficient 
separation distances. 

6.15 On balance, I am satisfied the proposal would not cause harm to neighbouring 
amenities and it therefore complies with the aims of SOCS policy CSQ3 and SOLP 
policies D1, D4, G2 and H4.

6.16
Drainage and flood risk
The Plot 3 site is located in Flood Zone 1 and not within an area identified as being at 
risk of surface water flooding (as defined by the Environment Agency flood maps). 
Flood Zones 2 and 3 are located approximately 75 metres to the south. As the site is 
within Flood Zone 1 the NPPF advises that no Flood Risk Assessment is required, and 
most types of development would be acceptable (in terms of flood risk). However, third 
party comments have raised concerns over surface water flooding that has occurred in 
the wider area (the Horseshoe Lane, part of the Plot 3 site and properties at Creek End 
and Burr Wood to the north). It has been stated that floodwater has run-off from 
farmland to the north and has failed to be captured by highway drainage serving the 
A415. Photos were submitted showing part of the Plot 3 site and Horseshoe Lane 
flooded by surface water. 

6.17 I acknowledge that surface water flooding has occurred in the vicinity of the site but, 
this does not appear to be a commonly occurring issue and is not reflected in the EA’s 
surface water flood maps. It is unreasonable to expect a development of the proposed 
scale and location to be able to increase flood risk or to justify off-site mitigation against 
flooding of adjacent land (for example the private lane could have been upgraded 
historically if local landowners had deemed it necessary). The district council’s 
Drainage Engineer has acknowledged the groundwater flood risk in the area but has 
offered no objection to the scheme. Conditions to secure full foul and surface water 
drainage details are requested (along with the use of permeable hard-surfacing 
materials that can be controlled by a separate condition). I consider these to be 
reasonable details to secure as there may be a need to upgrade the existing drainage 
systems to meet the NPPF para. 163 requirements for the use of sustainable drainage 
and flood resilience measures. The development therefore presents an opportunity for 
the flood risk to the site (and adjacent land) to be reduced, in my view. 

Impact on trees

Page 30



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

6.18 There are a number of mature trees located within, and in proximity to the development 
site.  During the earlier stages of the application assessment several individual trees 
and a small area of woodland were placed under TPO. As a result, a revised site layout 
was submitted. The district’s Forestry Officer subsequently offered no further objection 
subject to tree protection and landscaping conditions being attached. The tree 
protection condition to ensure the satisfactory protection of retained trees and the 
landscaping condition to ensure that trees are planted to screen the development. I do 
not consider that significant amounts of new tree planting would be required as the 
majority of mature trees to be retained offer a good level of screening but, the new 
passing places may require replacement hedges to be planted so I consider the 
requested conditions to be reasonable and necessary to ensure the development 
complies with SOCS policy CSEN1 and SOLP policies C9, D1, G2 and H4. 

6.19
Other matters
The council’s CIL charging schedule applies to relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. 
CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver 
infrastructure and to support the development of their area, and is primarily calculated 
on the increase in footprint created as a result of the development. In this case CIL 
would be liable for the construction of the new dwelling and any associated 
outbuildings.  

6.20 NPPF Paragraph 38 details the need for Local planning authorities to approach 
planning decisions in a positive and creative way, using the full range of planning tools 
available and working proactively with applicants to secure developments that will 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Subject to 
some minor revisions and clarifications the proposal is now considered to be in 
accordance with the development plan and is a sustainable form of development.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 It is recommended that members grant planning permission as the proposed 

development would help to secure additional housing on an infill site within the built-up 
limits of a ‘smaller village’ where some small-scale provision of new housing is 
supported through the spatial development strategy of the development plan. The 
recommended conditions would safeguard future harm to protected trees, the general 
character and appearance of the area and highway safety. The proposed development 
therefore complies with the development plan and is a sustainable development. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
Planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions;

1. Three-year time limit; 
2. Approved plans;
3. Construction Traffic and Environmental Management Plan (pre-

commencement);
4. Survey of road and required repairs (prior to commencement); 

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved a condition 
survey of the access road (that extends from the site to the western access 
point of the ‘Horseshoe Lane’ with the A415) shall be undertaken and submitted 
to the local planning authority. Prior to the occupation of the dwelling a scheme 
to restore the road and verges (to its condition prior to the commencement of 
the development) shall be completed in accordance with a written scheme of 
restoration that shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. 

Page 31



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers in accordance with Policies T1 and EP2 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

5. Tree protection; 
6. External materials; 

Construction of the dwelling hereby approved shall not continue above slab 
level until full details of the external materials and finishes to be used in the 
construction of the development have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The written details shall include (as a minimum) 
a photographic example of each material, the material name and 
manufacturer/supplier name. Thereafter the development shall be completed in 
accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To ensure the development is compatible with its surroundings, to 
protect the character and appearance of the conservation area in accordance 
with Policies CSEN1 and CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 
and Policies D1, G2 and H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

7. Parking and turning; 
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the off-road 
parking and turning areas and access road passing places shall be constructed 
in full in accordance with site layout drawing no.S2/P/02 Rev.B and in 
accordance with a written materials specification that shall first be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The written details shall 
include (as a minimum) a photographic example of each material, the material 
name, manufacturer/supplier name and details of the permeability/porousness 
of the material. Thereafter the development shall be completed in accordance 
with the approved details and the parking and turning areas shall be retained 
unobstructed except for the intended use at all times. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure the provision of off-
street car parking in accordance with policies CSEN1 and CSQ3 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 Policies D1, D2, T1 and T2 of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011.

8. Drainage (prior to occupation);
The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into use until it 
has been connected to drainage systems for both foul and surface water 
disposal, the details of which shall first be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. The details submitted shall demonstrate how the 
proposed drainage systems will be compliant with sustainable drainage (SuDS) 
principles. 

Reason: To prevent pollution and to ensure adequate drainage infrastructure is 
provided in accordance with Policies EP1 and EP6 of the South Oxfordshire 
Local Plan 2011. 

9. Site planting scheme;
The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied or brought into use until a 
scheme for the planting of trees, shrubs and hedges within the site has been 
carried out in full in accordance with written details that shall first be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The written details 
shall include: 

Page 32



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 15 January 2020

- Details of the species, locations and numbers of all trees, shrubs and hedges 
to be planted; 
- written planting and maintenance specifications; 
- Plan showing all trees/hedges to be retained; 
- Plan showing all trees/hedges to be removed. 

In the event of any of the trees, shrubs or hedges planted as part of the 
approved scheme dying or being seriously damaged or destroyed within 5 years 
of the completion of the development, a new tree, shrub or hedge of equivalent 
number and species, or of a species and number as first approved by the Local 
Planning Authority, shall be planted and properly maintained in a position or 
positions first approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To help to assimilate the development into its surroundings in 
accordance with Policies CSEN1, and CSQ3 of the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy 2027 and Policies C9, D1 G2, and H4 of the South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan 2011.

Author:         David Millinship
Contact No:  01235 422600
Email:            planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Rebanks

Grantchester House

TENNIS
COURT

Creek End

Stamford

Cedar

Thames Lodge

Tanglewood

Fair

Cottage

Grange

Little
The Laurels

The Spinney

The

Riverside

House

The

Burcot House

Chapel

Yellowhammer

House

Beeches

Linden House
Gables

Beech

Northfield

Coach House

1

3

Grantchester House
ABINGDON ROAD

54.9m

Marshfield
Yellowhammer

Waterstone House

Rebanks

Ro
se

ma
ry

Withywindle

Pond

Dr
ain

Boat House

-

01/10/15

location plan

first issued

client name

drawing title

1:1250 @ A2

www.andersonorr.cominfo@andersonorr.com01865 873936

The Studio,   70 Church  Road,   Wheatley,   Oxford,   OX33  1LZ

descriptiondaterevision

status

job/drawing no/revision

scaledrawn

project title

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM THIS
DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY. COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

750

15117-L10

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT
BURCOT
OXON

AC

Appendix 1

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 8
P

19/S
0058/FU

L

AGould
Textbox

AGould_1
Textbox
LOCATION PLAN 1:1250 @ A3 Proposed Erection of a 5 bed detached dwellinghouse and detached garage Land to the south of Creek End, Abingdon Road, Burcot, Oxon, OX14 3DJ       

AGould_2
Textbox

AGould_3
Textbox

AGould_4
Polyline

AGould_5
Polyline



Appendix 2

P
age 36



P
age 37



P
age 38



P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/S2517/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 4.10.2019
PARISH WARBOROUGH
WARD MEMBER(S) Sue Cooper

Andrea Powell
APPLICANT Richard Pullen
SITE The Old Post Office, 5 Wharf Road, Shillingford, OX10 

7EW
PROPOSAL Three bay timber framed & clay tiled roof with oak clad 

garage and store.
GRID REFERENCE 459462 / 192731
OFFICER Neil Davies

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application was deferred from the committee meeting on 2 December 2019 due 

to the meeting guillotine having been reached prior to its consideration.
It has been referred to Planning Committee at the request of the local member 
Councillor Sue Cooper.

1.2 The Old Post Office, which is shown on the attached location plan at Appendix 1, is a 
Grade II listed building located in a large plot in a small ribbon of dwellings just off the 
highway south west of the A4074 within the built-up limits of Shillingford and is 
washed over by the Oxford Green Belt. 

1.3 The application site sits within the Shillingford Conservation Area, an area of 
archaeological constraint and a flood zone.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks planning permission to erect a three-bay timber framed and clay 

tiled roof with oak clad garage and timber store

2.2 The application was upgraded from a householder application to a full application 
following agreement with the applicant that the site for the garage was outside the 
residential curtilage of the dwelling.

2.3 The plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 2.  Full copies of the 
supporting documentation and consultation responses are available for inspection on 
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Warborough Parish Council - No objections.

Neighbour representations – Approve (x7)

Neighbour representations – Object (x1)
 Not in keeping with the landscape of the road

Countryside Access – None received

County Archaeological Services (SODC) - No objection subject to conditions.

Page 41

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S2517/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

 Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

 Other than in accordance with the agreed Written Scheme of Investigation a 
staged programme of archaeological evaluation and mitigation shall be carried 
out by the commissioned archaeological organisation in accordance with the 
approved Written Scheme of Investigation

Conservation Officer – Objects
 The application does not comply with NPPF paragraph 196 because it poses 

less than substantial harm to the significance of the conservation area which is 
not outweighed by public benefits. 

 The proposal does not preserve or enhance the character and appearance of 
the conservation area and therefore does not meet the requirements of section 
77 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P19/S0508/HH - Withdrawn (29/03/2019)

New oak framed garage, car port and shed. Reclaimed tiles to match other buildings. 
Oak timber panelling. (as amended by drawing no. 190105C/01 to amend internal 
depth to meet minimum standard received on 28 March 2019)

P18/S2472/PEM – Withdrawn (04/09/2018)
**OFFICE MEETING & LETTER**
Single dwelling.

P62/M1143 - Approved (07/11/1962)
DEMOLITION OF COTTAGE AND ERECTION OF HOUSE WITH ACCESSES

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Emerging local plan

Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF. 

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034.
The council has submitted the Local Plan 2034 to the Planning Inspector for an 
independent examination following public consultation. 
  
On 10 October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034. The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. This means that the emerging plan 
has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The emerging Local Plan has no weight 
at this stage.

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies
CSEN2  -  Green Belt protection
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSQ3  -  Design
CSR1 - Housing in villages.

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
CON5  -  Setting of listed building

Page 42

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0508/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S2472/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P62/M1143


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
D1  -  Principles of good design
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
GB4  -  Openness of Green Belt maintained
H13  -  Extension to dwelling
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users

5.4 Neighbourhood Plan policies;
Residents in Warborough and Shillingford voted for the adoption of their neighbourhood 
plan on 4th October 2018. The neighbourhood plans were approved by Council on 
Thursday 11th October 2018 and the plan is now made and must be used to help 
determine planning applications as part of the Development Plan.

Relevant policies:
VC1 – Development principle and the character of the villages.
H3 – Infill development
H5 -  Parking provision.

5.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.6 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues in the consideration of this application are;

Impact on the openness and visual amenity of the Oxford Green Belt.
Design and scale of the outbuilding.
Impact on the setting of the Listed Building.
Impact on the Shillingford Conservation Area.
Compliance with Neighbourhood Plan Policies.
Impact on neighbours.
Archaeological constraints.
Impact on trees.
Impact on Highways.
Flood issues.
Other Issues.

6.2 Impact on the openness and visual amenity of the Oxford Green Belt.
The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land 
permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and 
their permanence. This is set out in the advice from Central Government in the National 
Planning Policy Framework.

The five purposes of the green belt are;
- to check the unrestricted urban sprawl of large built up areas;
- to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
- to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
- to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
- to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land.

Page 43



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

6.3 Para 145 of the NPPF advises that a local planning authority should regard the 
construction of new buildings as inappropriate development in the Green Belt except for 
the following purposes;

 Buildings for agriculture and forestry;
 The provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land 

or a change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial 
grounds and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the 
Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it;

 The extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;

 The replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and 
not materially larger than the one it replaces;

 Limited infilling in villages;
 Limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in

the development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and
 Limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 

developed land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary 
buildings), which would:
‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the
existing development; or
‒ not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the
development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to
meeting an identified affordable housing need within the area of the local
planning authority.

6.4 New residential outbuildings are not listed as an exception under paragraph 145 of the 
NPPF. Therefore, it follows that they would represent inappropriate development within 
the Green Belt and would be, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt. Although Policy 
H13 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan does not specifically address outbuildings in 
the Green Belt, this policy is superseded by the policies of the NPPF. As such, the 
principle of the development within the Green Belt is not acceptable.

6.5 There is general acceptance through Inspectorate decisions that outbuildings within 
The Green Belt should be assessed in a similar way to new housing (as infill 
development) which would fall within Policy CSR1 of the Core Strategy (SOCS). It is 
therefore important to establish the settlement strategy for Shillingford which is defined 
in Appendix 4 of the SOCS. Shillingford is split into two areas; Smaller Village to the 
north east of the A4074 and Other Villages to the south west. The application site sits 
to the south west of the A4074 where infill development is restricted to an area of 0.1 
hectares sufficient to accommodate 2-3 houses.

The proposed outbuilding would be sited some 17 metres from the main dwelling close 
to the existing gated entrance and boundary wall to the south in a section of open 
ground, acknowledged to be outside the curtilage of the listed building, resembling a 
small orchard and currently used for off-road parking. This area once accommodated a 
Cottage that was demolished some years ago following planning permission for a new 
dwelling in 1962. Whilst this permission remains extant the garage structure would not 
be not be of the same use and therefore not regarded as an exception to Green Belt 
policy. The area to the south of the house is approximately 28 metres wide, (0.11 
hectares in area), with an additional 31 metres or so to the next residential dwelling, 
also a listed building. 

I am of the opinion that the combined area of land between the residential properties 
forms an important gap in the built-up frontage and reinforces the rural nature of the 

Page 44



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

village and should therefore be considered as a whole rather than individual units. The 
combined area is 0.24 hectares in size and would be sufficient to accommodate 5-6 
houses and far exceeds the limits of CSR1 for an ‘Other Village’. Following the principle 
that infill is defined as ‘The filling of a small gap in an otherwise built-up frontage or on 
other sites within settlements where the site is closely surrounded by buildings’ I believe 
that the significant separation between properties in an area of largely undeveloped 
land which makes a positive contribution in managing the balance of built form and 
openness of the area, would not satisfy the exceptions of the NPPF, Policy CSR1 and 
would be harmful to the openness of the Green Belt. 

Furthermore, I do not consider that there are any ‘very special circumstances’ in this 
case, which would allow for a departure from Green Belt policy. As previously 
highlighted the applicant/agent has acknowledged that the proposed garage structure 
would be located outside the curtilage of the dwelling and as such there would be no 
permitted development fall-back position for the erection of ancillary buildings. 

6.6 Design and scale of the outbuilding. The Old Post Office sits in a generous plot and 
whilst the proposed outbuilding would be located on an existing gravelled parking area 
and lawn at a distance of some 17 metres from the main house it would not have an 
excessively large footprint and or ridge height. It would employ an uncomplicated 
design, avoiding any overtly domestic features such as first floor accommodation and 
dormers. Therefore, I do not consider that the size, scale or design of development 
would result in an over-development of the plot or that it would compete with the main 
dwelling.

6.7 Impact on the setting of the Listed Building. Policy CON5 states that permission will 
not be granted for development which would harm the setting of a listed building whilst 
Policy CSEN3 of the SOCS seeks to conserve and enhance the historic environment. 
The Conservation Officer has no objection per se to the design of the building because 
the scale of the proposed outbuilding is not out of keeping with the size of the plot and it 
is of a traditional and simple design (ie. a subservient domestic garage outbuilding). As 
such, there is no objection to the proposal in terms of impact on the setting of the 
adjacent listed building.

6.8 Impact on the Shillingford Conservation Area. The garage structure would be 
located adjacent to the front of the site close to the road and vehicular entrance. The 
current openness of the site affords views across an orchard and garden associated 
with No.5 Wharf Road with the flatness of the land allowing longer views across 
agricultural land towards the distant Chiltern Hills AONB. The open nature of the site 
makes a positive contribution to the character of the conservation area and enables a 
good appreciation of the setting of the conservation area. Wharf Road has a loose knit 
character with large garden areas and open spaces between dwellings. The 
Conservation Officer has objected to the scheme on the grounds that the proposal 
would consolidate the built form on the frontage and erode the loose knit character. 
There is agreement with the supporting documentation submitted by the agent advising 
'The character of the village is formed by the juxtaposition of dwellings and other 
buildings along Wharf Road and their relationship with the street. Shillingford was 
originally an agricultural settlement and many of the buildings have agricultural origins. 
There are gaps in the built-up frontage but where these exist, they serve to reinforce 
the rural nature of the village.'  That said, whilst the design of the building is in keeping 
with the agricultural and rural nature of the village, it would nevertheless result in the 
infilling of a gap which is making a positive contribution in managing the balance of built 
form and openness. ilst garaging is desirable the Conservation Officer is unconvinced 
that it is a necessity that would justify the harm caused to the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area especially the distant views of the Chiltern Hills; 

Page 45



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

there is an existing garage and an existing hardstanding on the frontage along with the 
area of gravel inside the gated access to the garden/orchard area of the site currently 
used for parking.

In summary the application does not comply with NPPF paragraph 196 because it 
poses less than substantial harm which is not outweighed by public benefits. The 
proposal does not preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the 
conservation area and therefore does not meet the requirements of section 77 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

6.9 Compliance with Neighbourhood Plan Policies. The Warborough and Shillingford 
Neighbourhood Plans (WaSNP) has been made and holds full weight in the decision-
making process with the relevant policies relating to this application highlighted earlier 
in the report. The scale, design and materials would give rise to a high-quality structure 
that would sit to the south of the main house where open views of the countryside are 
available to the east and west. Located within the Shillingford Conservation Area the 
Neighbourhood Plan highlights the need to avoid blocking off the open views to the 
river and the Clumps. The overall height of the structure would sit at 5.5 metres, some 
3.5 metres higher than the boundary wall. Whilst it would be difficult to defend the 
argument that it blocked off views of the river and Clumps from any public vantage point 
it would nevertheless prevent longer views from Wharf Road across agricultural land 
towards the distant Chiltern Hills AONB; a point recognised and highlighted by the 
Conservation Officer.

The WaSNP policy regarding Infill (H3) defines Infill as a small gap in an otherwise 
continuous built up frontage capable of accommodating one or two houses, the 
development of which will not involve the outward extension of the built-up areas of the 
villages, is not considered back land (building in the rear garden of properties, which
can require unsuitable access and reduce the privacy of adjoining properties) and does 
not result in harm to the conservation areas’ rural character or appearance through loss 
of glimpsed views to greenery beyond the building line. 

In the case of Warborough and Shillingford infill development is identified as a site that 
is:

• between two buildings and capable of accommodating one or two houses
• not an important open feature that adds to the character of the area
• visually linked in the sense that the infill does not detract from the existing frontage
• not considered backland (building in the rear garden of properties, which can require 
  unsuitable access and reduce the privacy of adjoining properties)

As highlighted earlier in this report the distance between the two residential dwellings is 
in excess of 30 metres and 0.24 hectares in area; a size capable of accommodating 5-6 
dwellings and therefore contrary to Policy H3.

Both I and the Conservation Officer share the view that the gaps in the built-up frontage 
serve to reinforce the rural nature of the village and the proposed garage would result 
in an unacceptable loss of a gap which is making a positive contribution in managing 
the balance of built form and openness that allow views of the Chiltern Hills beyond the 
boundary line; again contrary to Policy H3. 

Whilst garaging is desirable as it would provide additional covered and secure off-road 
parking which would comply with the parking policy of the Neighbourhood Plan its 
necessity would not justify the harm caused to the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area given existing parking arrangements on the site that could be 

Page 46



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

developed through increasing the gravelled area inside the gated access to the 
garden/orchard area of the site currently used for parking.

I am therefore of the opinion that the proposal does not accord with Policies H3 and 
VC1 of the Neighbourhood Plan

6.10 Impact on neighbours. The proposal is single storey in height and contains no side 
windows. Sitting behind a high boundary wall over 30 metres from the only neighbour 
affected by the development at 15 Wharfe Road, to the south, I am of the view that the 
proposal would not materially harm the amenities of neighbouring properties.

6.11 Archaeological constraints. The application was subject to consultation with the 
County Archaeological Officer who has commented on the archaeological significance 
of the site. It is therefore likely that further archaeological features will be encountered 
by this development. He has no objection to the proposal but has recommended two 
conditions to require the submission of a written scheme of investigation (WSI) and the 
implementation of the WSI.

6.12 Impact on trees. There are several trees on the site, the largest of which sits close to 
the entrance to the proposed garage. These are automatically protected by virtue of 
their location within the Conservation Area. Informal discussion with the Forestry Officer 
confirmed that the proposal is unlikely to require the removal of any trees on the site, 
however their longevity should be secured through a General Tree Protection condition 
had the proposal been acceptable in other terms.

6.13 Impact on Highways. The application site sits on Wharf Road where dwellings are 
generally located to the east side of the highway, a farm and one other house sit on the 
opposite side of the road close to where the entrance to the proposal is located. A 
single garage is attached to the host dwelling with sufficient space to accommodate a 
second car in front of the doors with additional off -road parking provided on a gravelled 
area inside the entrance gates to the south of the main house. The entrance to the 
proposed site is set back from the road with good visibility splays along the road. 
Currently used for access and egress for parking I am of the view that the new garage 
complex would not have a significant impact on highway safety.

6.14 Flood issues. The site sits with Flood Zone 2 and partially in Flood Zone 3. This is 
however a minor development to a non-residential building. It is not envisaged that 
there would be any material increase to ground level following the development and 
with no indication of power requirement through trenchwork there are no flood issues 
likely to affect the proposed garage.

6.15 Other Issues. The Council’s CIL charging schedule has been adopted and will apply to 
relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can 
implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area, 
and is primarily calculated on the increase in floorspace created as a result of the 
development. In this case CIL is not liable as the proposed development would not 
result in a floorspace increase in excess of 100 square metres.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Your officers recommend that planning permission should be refused.  The site lies 

within the Oxford Green Belt, where there is a general presumption against new 
development in order to conserve the special and historic character of the City and to 
preserve the countryside outside it. The proposed garage would represent 
inappropriate development within the Green Belt and is therefore by definition harmful. 
Having regard to the position of the building in this open and undeveloped part of the 

Page 47



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

site the development would significantly harm the openness of the Green Belt. There 
are no 'very special circumstances' that would outweigh the harm caused by virtue of 
inappropriateness or to the openness of the Green Belt. The proposal is contrary to 
Policy CSEN2 of the adopted South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, Policy GB4 of the 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011, Green Belt policy of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Policies H3 and VC1 of the Warborough and Shillingford 
Neighbourhood Plan. The proposal would also fill an important open space in the 
Shillingford conservation area which would be harmful to the character and appearance 
of the Conservation Area contrary to the requirements of section 77 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Policy CSEN3 of the South 
Oxfordshire Core Strategy and Policy CON7 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan and 
does not comply with NPPF paragraph 196.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Refusal of planning permission for the following reasons;

1.  The site lies within the Oxford Green Belt, where there is a general 
     presumption against new development in order to conserve the special and 
     historic character of the City and to preserve the countryside outside it. The 
     proposed garage would not constitute limited infilling and would be 
     inappropriate development within the Green Belt and is therefore by definition 
     harmful. Having regard to the position of the building in this open and 
     undeveloped part of the site the development would significantly harm the 
     openness of the Green Belt. There are no 'very special circumstances' that 
     would outweigh the harm caused by virtue of inappropriateness or to the 
     openness of the Green Belt. The proposal is contrary to Policies CSEN2 and 
     CSR1 of the adopted South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, Policies H4 and GB4 of 
     the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011, Green Belt policy of the National 
     Planning Policy Framework and Policies H3 and VC1 of the Warborough and 
     Shillingford Neighbourhood Plan.

2. The provision of a building on this open site would consolidate the built form 
    on the frontage of Wharf Road, eroding the loose knit and rural character of 
    this part of the Shillingford conservation area contrary to the provisions of 
    section 77 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990,
    Policy CSEN3 of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, Policy CON7 and G2 of 
    the South Oxfordshire Local Plan, Policy VC1 of the Warborough and 
    Shillingford Neighbourhood Plan and paragraph 196 of the NPPF.

Author:          Neil Davies
Contact No:   01235 422600
Email:            planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 48



Appendix 1

Page 49

Agenda Item 9



Appendix 2

Page 50



DATE DRAWN

DRAWN CHECKED

SCALE

DRG. NO.

DRAWING

DATE ISSUED

T.J. Crump Oakwrights Ltd
The Lakes, Swainshill,
Hereford, HR4 7PU

+44 (0)1432 353353 
enquiries@oakwrights.co.uk

DRAWINGS PRODUCED BY

CLIENT

SITE ADDRESS

PROJECT

DEPARTMENT

This is an indicative drawing for estimating 
purposes only; to depict how the frame may 
look. They should not be seen as the final 
design. If a Planning application should be 
agreed between the Client and T.J. Crump 
Oakwrights Ltd, the watermark will then be 
removed.

© This drawing, its contents, and all information contained therein 
is protected by Copyright. It may be used once only for its intended 
purpose under a contract with Oakwrights Ltd, but not for any 
other use or purpose. This drawing is for Planning purposes and 
does not constitute a construction issue drawing. All setting out 
dimensions and levels are indicative and are subject to detailed site 
survey and site conditions. The Client and their agent are 
responsible for ensuring that Building Control and construction 
drawings are carried out following Planning approval. Scaling from 
this drawing is for Local Planning Authority information only.

REV.

6.
00

 m

3.00 m

9.62 m

03.01.19 30.07.19

OCB

3Bay Little Gloucester

5 Wharf Road, Shillingford, 
Wallingford, Oxfordshire, OX10 7EW

Mr Pullen

- - - -

190105

IS

-01

_
1:1

1:100

0 0.1m

0 10m2 4 6 8

ESTIMATING

1:100 @ A3

A

GROUND FLOOR PLAN 
Scale 1:100

LEFT ELEVATION
Scale 1:100

REAR ELEVATION
Scale 1:100

RIGHT ELEVATION
Scale 1:100

FRONT ELEVATION
Scale 1:100

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/S2305/RM
APPLICATION TYPE RESERVED MATTERS
REGISTERED 5.8.2019
PARISH STADHAMPTON
WARD MEMBER(S) Caroline Newton
APPLICANT Iverna Ltd
SITE Land off Cat Lane, Stadhampton
PROPOSAL Reserved Matters application following outline 

application ref. P16/S3690/O for the erection of two 
detached dwellings upon the building plot located off 
Cat Lane Stadhampton for appearance, landscaping, 
layout and scale. 
(As clarified and amended by revised drawings and 
contaminated land questionnaire accompanying 
Agents email dated 25 October 2019).

Development of two detached dwellings upon the 
building plot located off Cat Lane Stadhampton.

OFFICER Katherine Canavan

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to Planning Committee because the officer’s 

recommendation conflicts with the views of the Parish Council. The objections raised 
are as follows:

 The size, height and scale of the dwellings have increased from the outline 
permission, and will adversely affect the rural setting and views along Cat Lane.

 While the parish council does not oppose the contemporary design, the scale 
should be more in keeping with the setting and neighbouring properties along 
Cat Lane.

1.2 The development site is located south-east of Stadhampton green, outside the built 
limits of the settlement. The undeveloped site sits between The Old Hunt Stables and 
Cat Lane Cottages and is accessed via a narrow private road, Cat Lane, which is 
connected to the highway along The Green.

1.3 Area designations and site constraints:
 Tree Preservation Order – Cedar, located on boundary with ‘The Old Hunt 

Stables’ (Registered 13 February 2019, since approval of outline permission)
 The site is located 340m west of Ascott Park (Registered Park and Gardens)
 Great Crested Newts (protected species) have been identified close to the site 

at Manor Pond
 Grade II Listed buildings and structures: The Manor House (and attached front 

wall, piers and railings), and ice house; Green House; Lime Cottages (and 
outbuildings).

 The following Public Rights of Way are located close to the site: Stadhampton 
Footpaths 1, 2 and 19, and Stadhampton Bridleway 4.

1.4 The site is identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached at Appendix 1.

Page 53

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S2305/RM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 Outline planning permission was granted for two detached dwellings and access onto 

Cat Lane on 27 October 2017.

The applicant seeks approval of the detail presented in the current reserved matters 
application, specifically appearance, landscaping, design (and materials), layout and 
scale (and height / footprint).

 

2.2 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at 
Appendix 2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for 
inspection on the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Original plans:

Objection
 The size, height and scale of the dwellings have increased 

from the outline permission and will adversely affect the 
rural setting and views along Cat Lane.

 While the parish council does not oppose the 
contemporary design, the scale should be more in keeping 
with the setting and neighbouring properties along Cat 
Lane.

Note: a right of access exists to cross the Village Green at 
Stadhampton. Easement to be arranged directly with the parish 
council.

Stadhampton 
Parish Council

Revised plans:
Objection maintained

 Previous comments remain. However, street scene views 
may help to illustrate whether or not the dwellings would sit 
appropriately within Cat Lane.

 Given the sensitivities of the site and the limited 
opportunity for parking along the lane or on the Green, the 
Parish Council is concerned that there would be 
insufficient space for trades / construction vehicles on site. 
A smaller scheme may address this and reduce the impact 
on neighbours.

Highways Liaison 
Officer (OCC)

Revised plans:
No objection subject to conditions.

Countryside Officer Revised plans:
No further comment

Page 54



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

Original plans:
To compensate for the loss of habitat on site, a bat box 
condition is required.

Revised plans:
No objection 
Contamination land questionnaire submitted and reviewed

Contamination 
Officer

Original plans:
Insufficient detail – contamination land questionnaire required

Revised plans:
No further comment received

Drainage Engineer

Original plans:
No objection, subject to surface water and foul water 
conditions.

Revised plans:
No objection, further to the receipt of amended plans.
Compliance condition, and implementation of tree planting 
required.

Forestry Officer

Original plans:
Amendment required to tree protection plan and block plan to 
remove patio from the Root Protection Area.

3.2 Neighbour representations - 8 representations received

Access and 
highway safety

 Cat Lane is a very narrow, single track, rural lane with no 
passing places.

 The lane cannot cope with larger delivery or construction 
vehicles, and there is insufficient space on the site to park 
construction / trade vehicles.
A more robust Construction Traffic Management Plan is 
required to avoid the lane being obstructed throughout the 
build period.

 There does not appear to be enough space to unload 
components onto site, turn and exit once brickwork has 
started, eg. Long vehicle delivering roof trusses / ready-
mix concrete when the two houses will be substantially 
complete and there will be no space on site to manoeuvre.

 Traffic safety issues are a concern as there is poor 
visibility when entering and leaving the lane.

Design and setting  The proposed dwellings will dwarf the single storey 
properties opposite, particularly as the site is much higher 
than the lane.

 The houses will ruin the landscape and erode the rural 
nature of the lane.

 Whilst the height of the buildings may be no greater than 
the dwelling at The Old Hunt Stables, it is out of character 
with the two bungalows directly opposite. The site is on a 
bank above the Lane

Page 55



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

which accentuates the height of the buildings. The building 
at The Old Hunt Stables is obscured from the bungalows 
by large trees whereas the buildings on the Site will not 
be.

 The buildings are very large in relation to the size of their 
plots and the gardens small for four-bedroom dwellings.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S4221/PEM – Response provided (19/02/2019)

Pre-application advice following outline approval P16/S3690/O for the erection of two 
detached dwellings.

P16/S3690/O - Approved (27/10/2017)
Outline application for the erection of two detached dwellings. 
(As amended and supported by Agent's email and attached documents received on 23 
February 2017, and as amplified by ecology survey received 7 September 2017).

P15/S1585/PEM – Response provided (11/06/2015)
Construction of 4 new dwellings on vacant infill site in Cat Lane, Stadhampton, 
Oxfordshire.

P84/N0698/O - Refused (03/04/1985) - Appeal dismissed (10/02/1986)
Erection of one dwellinghouse, access 
(As amended by plans and Section 27 Notice accompanying Agents letter dated 6 
February 1985)

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies

CS1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1 – The overall strategy
CSR1 – Housing in villages
CSQ3 – Design

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan policies
C4 – Landscape setting of settlements
G2 – Protect district from adverse development
H4 – Proposals for houses
D1 – Design
D2 – Parking provision
D3 – Plot coverage and garden areas
D4 – Privacy and overlooking
D10  -  Waste Management
T1 – Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2 – Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.3 Neighbourhood Plan policies
While early discussions have taken place with Stadhampton Parish Council, no formal 
plan is progressing at the moment.

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

Page 56

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3690/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S1585/PEM
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P84/N0698/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

5.6 Emerging local plan
Paragraph 48 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in emerging 
plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only subject to the 
stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and the degree of 
consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF. 

Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034.
The council has submitted the Local Plan 2034 to the Planning Inspector for an 
independent examination following public consultation. 
  
On 10 October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034. The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. This means that the emerging plan 
has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The emerging Local Plan has no weight 
at this stage.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The key planning considerations in determining this reserved matters application are:

 Character, layout and design
 Residential amenity and impact on neighbouring dwellings
 Landscaping and tree protection 
 Access and highway safety
 Community Infrastructure Levy

6.2 Character, layout and design
Criterion (ii) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that the design, height, scale and 
materials of the proposed development are in keeping with its surroundings and 
criterion (iii) requires that the character of the area is not affected. Policies CSQ3 of the 
SOCS and D1 of the SOLP 2011 amplify this requirement.

The outline permission secured a maximum of two dwellings on-site, along with access 
onto Cat Lane. No limitations were placed on the design, materials, layout, scale, 
height and footprint and are therefore free to be 
considered on their planning merits as reserved 
matters. During the application process small-scale 
amendments were made to the layout and design of 
the dwellings to respond to advice from the Planning 
Officer and to reduce the bulk and scale of the 
dwellings. This information is currently before 
Members. The contemporary design approach is 
supported because the forms of the proposed 
dwellings, and use of materials, have been informed 
by the rural setting of the site and existing buildings in 
the area. 

It is recognised that the footprint of the dwellings is 
larger than indicated in the outline application, but the 
footprints of both dwellings are within the range of 
sizes seen across neighbouring properties. The large family homes can be 
accommodated on the site while providing sufficient outdoor space and parking / 
turning space. 

Page 57



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

Properties in the lane range from bungalows, to 1 ½ height and 2-storey dwellings. 
While it is acknowledged that the design of the dwellings will result in two dwellings 
that have prominent front elevations, the height, scale and massing would not be 
substantially different from the scale of other properties see along Cat Lane. The 
prominence of the front elevations is not in itself harmful to the character and 
appearance of the lane because the design draws from the varied character of rural 
properties along Cat Lane, and includes features seen on properties in the local area. 

In light of the amendments made to slightly reduce the scale, the character, layout and 
design conform with the requirements of policy D1 of the SOLP and policy CSQ3 of the 
SOCS.

6.3 Residential amenity and impact on neighbouring dwellings
Criterion (iv) of Policy H4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that there are no overriding 
amenity objections. Policy D4 of the SOLP 2011 requires that all new dwellings should 
be designed and laid out to secure a reasonable degree of privacy for the occupiers. 

The siting of the two dwellings allows 
for a 30m+ separation distance 
between the front elevations and the 
bungalows opposite, across the 
access track. Although the view from 
both properties will be different, the 
separation distance, and existing and 
proposed screening, would avoid any 
adverse impact to outlook or privacy.  

The south-east elevation of plot 2 
faces the boundary, which is shared 
with Fairleigh, but at this point looks 
onto the back of a double garage only. 
No openings are proposed on the side 
elevations. The amenity of occupants 
to the south-east, at a distance of 
30m+, would be unaffected by the 
development.

The north-west elevation of plot 1 faces the boundary which is shared with The Old 
Hunt Stables. The Old Hunt Stables is set forward of Plot 1, and the rear elevation of 
Plot 1 is stepped in on the side closest to the boundary to minimise the distance the 
building extends back, and to safeguard the root protection area of the cedar tree on 
the neighbouring site. Openings in this elevation include a door to the bootroom and an 
en-suite window – neither of which are habitable rooms, and therefore the privacy and 
amenity of residents at The Old Hunt Stables would not be affected. It is however 
recommended that the window serving the en-suite is obscure-glazed to prevent 
overlooking, and that no new openings are permitted on this elevation (unless through 
an application for planning permission), and that these restrictions be secured by 
condition.

The dwelling on Plot 1 measures 8.1m in height, and Plot 2 measures 8.8m and both 
are to be located on ground elevated above the access track. The dwelling on Plot 1 is 
proposed to be 0.96m higher than The Old Hunt Stables, with a separation distance 
(side to side) of 2.3m. On the basis that the height increase relates to side elevations, 
and a suitable separation distance is retained, and the height is not significantly 

Page 58



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

greater, the higher ridgeline of the new dwelling would not adversely affect the amenity 
on the neighbouring occupants.  

In conformity with Policy H4 of the SOLP, the scale, height, siting and openings would 
not adversely affect the privacy, outlook or amenity of neighbouring occupants. 

6.4 Tree protection and landscaping
6.4i Policy CSEN1 of the SOCS states that the district’s distinct landscape character and 

key features will be protected against inappropriate development. 

Policy C9 of the SOLP sets out that any development that would cause the loss of 
landscape features will not be permitted where those features make an important 
contribution to the local scene […].  Where features are retained within the 
development site, conditions will be used to ensure that they are protected during 
development and have sufficient space to ensure their survival after development.

6.4ii Since approval of the outline permission in October 2017 a Tree Preservation Order 
has been placed on the cedar tree alongside the development site, and within the plot 
of the neighbouring property, The Old Hunt Stables. In light of this, the detailed design 
and layout will be required to respond to the landscape feature and suitable measures 
will need to be secured to ensure it is protected during construction and in the long-
term.

Further to advice from the Forestry Officer, amended plans were submitted to ensure 
no part of the development (including hardstanding) extended into the root protection 
area. Subsequently, the Forestry Officer raised no objection, subject to a condition 
requiring the implementation of the tree planting shown on the submitted Tree 
Protection Plan and set out at Appendix F of the submitted full arboricultural method 
statement.

6.4iii Soft landscaping and native mix hedging is proposed along the front of the property. 
This approach is sufficient to soften the impact of the hardstanding to the front of the 
new properties and to mark the front boundary. 

6.5 Access and highway safety
6.5i In accordance with polices T1 and T2, developments are required to provide safe and 

convenient access to the highway, and parking to meet the Parking Standards set out 
in the South Oxfordshire Local Plan – Appendix 5.

6.5ii Access to the site was established at outline stage, taking account of Cat Lane being 
the only access to and from the site. The Highway Liaison Officer has reviewed the 
detailed plans and raised no objection. The detailed layout provides vision splays, 
turning areas and parking spaces in accordance with policy.

6.5iii Although the lane is narrow, and construction traffic and deliveries will need to be dealt 
with sensitively, the scale of the development is small and the development period will 
be relatively short as a result of this. Notwithstanding this, Members considered a 
condition requiring a Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) (attached to the 
outline permission) would be the most appropriate way to manage the construction 
process and minimise impact to the residents along Cat Lane. While this is usually only 
reserved for large scale development, it would provide a mechanism for careful 
consideration to be given to the construction process, given the narrow lane is the only 
access to the site.

Page 59



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

The detailed proposal before Members has not significantly altered from the outline 
permission, in the sense that two new households (and associated vehicles) will be 
using the lane, and a CTMP continues to be a satisfactory method to manage the build 
process for 2 large dwellings (further detail in section 6.7). 

6.6 Additional matters
6.6i Ecology

On the advice of the Countryside Officer, a condition is recommended to secure bat 
boxes on site. This is to compensate for the loss of habitat on site.

6.6ii Securing right of way to access site over private land
Cat’s Lane is a private lane. With regard to obtaining access across the land, this 
constitutes a private matter. While it will need to be resolved for the permission to be 
implemented it is not a planning matter and does not serve as a planning reason to 
prevent the reserved matters application from being determined.  

6.7 Discharge of conditions relating to outline application ref. P19/S2305/RM

Construction Traffic Management Plan (Condition 6)
The CTMP submitted by the applicant provides sufficient detail to manage construction 
vehicles, contractor parking, access to and from the site during construction and details 
of how the site will be secured. Even though it is acknowledged that the lane is narrow 
and certain measures will need to be factored in to minimise disruption during the 
construction process, the CTMP provides detail to a level that is proportionate with the 
scale of the proposed development (2 dwellings) and clarifies how construction traffic 
will be managed. On this basis the Planning Officer recommends the CTMP (Condition 
6) be discharged. 

6.8 Community Infrastructure Levy
The council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 1 April 2016.  Based on 
the current Regulation 123 list, contributions towards education, health, sports / leisure, 
community and cultural facilities and general highways infrastructure would be 
collected through CIL. 

The proposed development results in the provision of new residential floorspace and 
would therefore be liable for a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charge, as set out 
in the South Oxfordshire Charging Schedule. The CIL charge applied to new build 
residential development is £150 per square metre (adjusted to £182.18 as per indexing 
figure Jan 2020) in Stadhampton. In this case the development would result in the 
provision of 529sqm of new residential floorspace.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Planning permission should be granted because the design, layout, materials and 

landscaping, the detail of the development responds appropriately to the character and 
appearance of the rural nature of the lane. The scale, height and footprint of the 
dwellings are consistent with dwellings in the immediate area, and the heights and 
boundary distances retain a suitable relationship
with existing dwellings to safeguard privacy and amenity. Further to amendments to the 
layout, a key landscape feature has been safeguarded.

The reserved matters details, specifically the appearance, landscaping, design and 
materials, and layout, scale, height and footprint, were provided in full and accord with 
the parameters established at outline stage, and the requirements of the relevant 
Development Plans policies.

Page 60

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S2305/RM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

Sufficient detail was submitted in respect of construction traffic management to approve 
condition 6 of the outline application, subject to the work being carried out with the 
details hereby approved.

Subject to the recommended conditions, the proposal accords with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2018) and National Planning Practice Guidance (2014), 
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (2012), South Oxfordshire Local Plan (Saved policies, 
2011) and the South Oxfordshire Design Guide (2016).

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That planning permission for reserved matters be granted subject to the 

following conditions:

1. In accordance with plans
2. In accordance with schedule of materials
3. In accordance with Arboricultural Method Statement
4. Implementation of the tree planting and landscaping
5. Parking and turning as indicated on plans
6. Ecology – Bat box 
7. Surface water drainage details
8. Foul water drainage details
9. Wheel washing facilities on-site
10. Boundary treatment and amenity space to be set out prior to occupation 
11. No conversion of garages to accommodation
12. PD rights restriction – obscure windows 

(First-floor windows facing boundary with The Old Hunt Stables)
13. PD rights restriction – no new openings 

(On upper floors of north-west elevation facing The Old Hunt Stables)
14. PD rights restriction – extensions
15. PD rights restriction – roof alterations

Author: Katherine Canavan
Contact No: 01235 422700
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 63

Agenda Item 10



2.4
m

Stables
Old Hunt
The

Cottage
Green

Garden
Fairleigh

Manor Close

Coppers

Cottage
Plumtree

C
A

T
 L

A
N

E

P
at

h 
um

C
A
T LA

N
E

Block Plan 
Scale 1:200 @ A1

0

2

4

6 10 20

8

17m
 Visual Splay

1
7
m

 V
isu

a
l S

p
la

y

PLOT 1

PLOT 2

B
ins

Resin Bound Permeable 
Driveways by SureSet or 
similar approved

Bins

shaded area indicates 
extent of Cat Lane as 
shown on title plans 

cobblestone paver 
entrance

Indicative of entrance to 
Manor Close & Coopers

yellow hatch denotes 
visual spay @ 2.4m back 
from site boundary. area 
to double up as car 
passing opportunity

B
in

s

2.4
m

2.4
m

2.4
m

2.4
m

2.4
m

2.4
m

2.4
m

2.4
m

2.4
m

2.4
m

6m x 2.5m magenta 
hatch denotes proposed 
area for car passing

soft landscaping and 
native-mix hedging to 
provide adequate 
screening along the front 
boundary 

2.7m
 x 5

m
 parking

 b
a
y - P

lo
t 2

2.7m
 x 5

m
 parking b

a
y - P

lo
t 1

3
m

 x 6m
 p

a
rkin

g
 b

a
y - P

lot 1

3
m

 x 6m
 p

a
rkin

g
 b

a
y - P

lot 2B
in

 S
tore

B
in

 S
tore

indicative alternative 
position of covered bin 
store with easy access to 
entrance for collection 

74
00

Location Plan 
Scale 1:1250 @ A1

0

10

20

30 50 100

40

N

metres

Reproduction in whole or part is prohibited without the prior permission of Ordnance Survey.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 OS 100053143

Limes

The

Stables

Old Hunt

The

Cottage
Green

The Gables

Fairleigh

Manor Close

Coppers

Cottage
Plumtree

198341.89

4
6

0
5

3
1

.2
2

198350

198400

198450

198500

4
6

0
5
5
0

4
6

0
6

0
0

0 10 20

metres

30 40

4
6

0
6

5
0

50

4
6

0
7
0

0

4
6

0
7
2

9
.1

6

198341.89

198350

198400

198450

198500

C
A

T
 L

A
N

E

P
at

h 
um

denotes existing and proposed 
car passing places on Cat Lane

198650

4
6

0
5

3
1

.2
2

4
6

0
5
5
0

4
6

0
6

0
0

4
6

0
6

5
0

4
6

0
7
0

0

4
6

0
7
2

9
.1

6

198650

198550 198550

198600 198600

Manor Farm

Manor Barn

Pond

Pond

The Green

** property boundaries have been updated in accordance land 
registry titles - please allow for some decrepancy for final 
boundary placement

Contractor to check and verify all dimensions on site
prior to commencing any work

All rights reserved - No part of these documents shall
be reproduced without prior permission.

Rev / Date / Information:

Rev / Date / Information:

Client:

Address:

Drawing Title:

Date:

Project / Drawing No: Revision:

Scale: 1:1250 & 200

31 / 01 A

Location Plan &
Block Plan

Steven Graham 07511558041

20/11/18

Land at Cat Lane,
Stadhampton,
Oxfordshire
OX44 7UN

Iverna Limited

A / 23/10/19 / drawing amendments to patio of plot 1 
and increased buffer zones at front parking areas to 
plot 1 & 2

Appendix 2

P
age 64



Utility

0

North West Elevation (Side)

Scale 1:100 @ A1

2 4

1031 5

Master Bedroom

Master 
Ensuite

Landing

Void

Bedroom 4

Bedroom 3

Bathroom

St

Dressing

Bedroom 2Ensuite

0

South West Elevation (Rear)

Scale 1:100 @ A1

2 4

1031 5

0

South East Elevation (Side)

Scale 1:100 @ A1

2 4

1031 5

0

Nort East Elevation (Front)

Scale 1:100 @ A1

2 4

1031 5

0

First Floor Plan (Plot 1)

Scale 1:100 @ A1

2 4

1031 5

0

Site / Ground Floor Plan (Plot 1)
Scale 1:100 @ A1

2 4

1031 5

0

Roof Plan (Plot 1)
Scale 1:100 @ A1

2 4

1031 5

N

PLOT 1

Living

Dining Family

Study

WC

Coats
Entrance HallKitchen

Bins

Boot
Room

2.7m x 5m parking area - Plot 1

2.7m x 5m parking bay - Plot 1

3m x 6m parking bay - Plot 1

Bin Store

O
ld

 H
u
n
t 
S

ta
b
le

s

Materials Schedule:

Walls:

Cavity wall construction with 600mm 

Ibstock Alderley red brick footer by Brick 

Butler or similar approved, with 

remaining walls faced with Siberian Larch 

timber cladding (painted black) by 

Brookridge Timber or similar approved

Roof:

Proposed new roof to be 45 degree pitch 

Redland Concrete Plain Roof Tile by 

Roofing Outlet or similar approved

Windows & Doors:

New windows to be  powder coated 

aluminium, anthracite grey colour

Gutters:

Grey aluminium or PVC gutters to 

discharge into soakaways, anthracite 

grey colour

Rainsmart Ellipse Soakaway

Driveway:

Resin Bound Permeable Driveways by 

SureSet or similar approved

Garden:

Grass laid to lawn. Manzao paving slabs 

by Bradstone or similar approved subject 

to client final confirmation

Contractor to check and verify all dimensions on site
prior to commencing any work

All rights reserved - No part of these documents shall
be reproduced without prior permission.

Rev / Date / Information:

Rev / Date / Information:

Client:

Address:

Drawing Title:

Date:

Project / Drawing No: Revision:

Scale: 1:100

Steven Graham 07511558041

31 / 02

Land at Cat Lane,
Stadhampton,
Oxfordshire
OX44 7UN

Iverna Limited

Plot 1 - Site Plan,
Floor Plans & Elevation

20/11/18

A

A / 23/10/19 / drawing amendments to patio of plot 1 
and increased buffer zones at front parking areas to 
plot 1 & 2

P
age 65



0

Site / Ground Floor Plan (Plot 2)
Scale 1:100 @ A1

2 4

1031 5

N

Roof Plan (Plot 2)
Scale 1:100 @ A1

2 4

1031 5

First Floor Plan (Plot 2)

Scale 1:100 @ A1

2 4

1031 5

PLOT 2

Master Bedroom

Master Ensuite

Landing

Void

Bedroom 2
Bedroom 3Bedroom 4

Store

Bathroom

Ensuite

w

wsws

Kitchen

Living

Dining

Family

Utility

Study

WC

Coats

Entrance Hall

w

w

w

w

w

Bins

0

North West Elevation (Side)

Scale 1:100 @ A1

2 4

1031 5

0

South West Elevation (Rear)

Scale 1:100 @ A1

2 4

1031 5

0

South East Elevation (Side)

Scale 1:100 @ A1

2 4

1031 5

0

Nort East Elevation (Front)

Scale 1:100 @ A1

2 4

1031 5

2.7m x 5m parking area - Plot 2

2.7m x 5m parking bay - Plot 1

3m x 6m parking bay - Plot 1

Bin Store

Materials Schedule:

Walls:

Natural Stone 'Lower Buff' supplied by 

Cotswold Natural Stone or similar 

approved 

Roof:

Proposed new roof to be 45 degree pitch 

Redland Concrete Plain Roof Tile by 

Roofing Outlet or similar approved

Windows & Doors:

New windows to be  powder coated 

aluminium, anthracite grey colour

Gutters:

Grey aluminium or PVC gutters to 

discharge into soakaways, anthracite 

grey colour

Rainsmart Ellipse Soakaway

Driveway:

Resin Bound Permeable Driveways by 

SureSet or similar approved

Garden:

Grass laid to lawn. Manzao paving slabs 

by Bradstone or similar approved subject 

to client final confirmation

Contractor to check and verify all dimensions on site
prior to commencing any work

All rights reserved - No part of these documents shall
be reproduced without prior permission.

Rev / Date / Information:

Rev / Date / Information:

Client:

Address:

Drawing Title:

Date:

Project / Drawing No: Revision:

Scale: 1:100

Steven Graham 07511558041

31 / 03

Plot 2 - Site Plan,
Floor Plans & Elevation

Land at Cat Lane,
Stadhampton,
Oxfordshire
OX44 7UN

Iverna Limited

20/11/18

A

A / 23/10/19 / drawing amendments to patio of plot 1 
and increased buffer zones at front parking areas to 
plot 1 & 2

P
age 66



0

Garage Floor Plan
Scale 1:50 @ A1

1

0.5

N

North West Elevation (Side)

Scale 1:50 @ A1

South West Elevation (Rear)

Scale 1:50 @ A1

South East Elevation (Side)

Scale 1:50 @ A1

Nort East Elevation (Front)

Scale 1:50 @ A1

1.5 2.5 5

2

0

Garage Section
Scale 1:50 @ A1

1

0.5 1.5 2.5 5

2

2.7m x 5m parking bay - Plot 2 2.7m x 5m parking bay - Plot 1

3m x 6m parking bay - Plot 13m x 6m parking bay - Plot 2

Bin StoreBin Store

Materials Schedule:

Walls:

Timber frame with Treated Softwood 

Featheredge Cladding supplied by local 

builders merchant

Roof:

Proposed new roof to be 45 degree pitch 

Redland Concrete Plain Roof Tile by 

Roofing Outlet or similar approved

Doors:

Open front with lockable timber doors to 

bin storage

Gutters:

Grey aluminium or PVC gutters to 

discharge int

Contractor to check and verify all dimensions on site
prior to commencing any work

All rights reserved - No part of these documents shall
be reproduced without prior permission.

Rev / Date / Information:

Rev / Date / Information:

Client:

Address:

Drawing Title:

Date:

Project / Drawing No: Revision:

Scale: 1:50

Steven Graham 07511558041

31 / 04

Garage/Bin Store, Plans
Elevation & Section

Land at Cat Lane,
Stadhampton,
Oxfordshire
OX44 7UN

Iverna Limited

04/12/18

A

A / 03/08/19 / Garage elevation amendments

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 15 Janaury 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/S2720/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 23.8.2019
PARISH THAME
WARD MEMBERS Pieter-Paul Barker

Kate Gregory
David Bretherton

APPLICANT Seville Developments
SITE Unit 5 Goodson Industrial Mews Wellington Street 

Thame, OX9 3BX
PROPOSAL Redevelopment of an office building (Class B1(a)) to 

provide eight 2-bed apartments (Class C3) with 
associated access and landscaping works and the 
provision of access and landscaping improvements 
to office/industrial units. (as amended by additional 
supporting information regarding highway issues 
received  14 October 2019, and by amended plans 
received 29 November 2019 removing timber 
panelling from ground floor windows on the south 
elevation, proposing obscure glazing in two first floor 
windows on the east elevation, providing car parking 
spaces to standard, and providing internal 
elevations of lightwell / courtyard in centre of 
building).

OFFICER Victoria Clarke

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee because the officer’s 

recommendation conflicts with the views of Thame Town Council.  Officers 
recommend this application for approval.

1.2 The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) 
includes two existing commercial buildings (Unit 5 and Units 1-4) that form part of a 
wider site, with a range of commercial units interspersed with areas of hardstanding.  
Access to the site is from Wellington Street.  The surrounding area is predominantly 
residential, with a cluster of other commercial buildings adjoining parts of the site.  

1.3 The application site is within the town centre and is within an area of archaeological 
constraint.  The southern part of the site abuts the boundary of Thame Conservation 
Area.  

1.4 The application plans were amended during the application process and this 
amendment included confirmation that the parking spaces meet the County Council’s 
specified dimensions, proposing a privacy screen to the south east elevation of the 
terrace / platform and obscure glass in two first floor windows on the south east 
elevation facing towards 68 Wellington Street, and amending the design by removing 
the screen in front of the rear windows of the two central ground floor flats.  

1.5 Planning permission was granted under reference P15/S3848/FUL for the demolition 
of Unit 5 as part of a wider redevelopment of the site for a mixture of residential and 

Page 69

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S2720/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 15 Janaury 2020

office/industrial.  Prior Approval was also granted under reference P19/S0204/N1A for 
the conversion of Unit 5 from an office to ten one-bedroom flats.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks planning permission for the conversion and extension of the 

existing office building to provide eight two-bedroom flats with associated improvements 
to the access and landscaping works.

2.2 The access from Wellington Street will be altered and the internal access road would be 
re-aligned.  

2.3 Thirty-three car parking spaces are proposed in total; 20 spaces for the existing 
commercial Units 1-4 and 13 spaces for the proposed flats.  The parking layout to the 
front of the existing office/industrial units (Units 1-4 Goodsons Industrial Mews) on the 
internal access road would be altered from parallel parking spaces to a row of spaces 
at 90 degrees to the access road.  Parking spaces to serve the proposed flats and 
existing office/industrial units would also be provided fronting onto Wellington Street 
and to the rear of Unit 5.

2.4 The two-storey extension and alterations to Unit 5 would be finished in brickwork 
painted white, replacement blackened timber panels and hardwood shingle cladding.  
The roof would be finished in slates to match the existing building.  

2.5 A copy of the plans relating to this planning application is attached as Appendix B.  
Other documentation associated with the application, including consultation responses, 
can be viewed on the council’s website, www.southoxon.gov.uk. 

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Thame Town Council - Object

 Employment loss – the property has not been marketed without restriction for a 
reasonable price for a year in line with TNP Policy WS7.

 Design – poor relationship with surroundings due to it being residential in 
industrial surroundings, inadequate privacy and natural light for proposed flats 
contrary to ESDQ16.

 Amenity space – falls short of space standards in South Oxfordshire Design 
Guide 2016 and TNP Policy ESDQ28.

 Parking – parking spaces are not compliant with county council’s parking 
standards.

3.2 Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No objection, subject to 
conditions:

 Improve existing vehicular access to county council standards
 Provide vision splays in accordance with approved plan
 Parking and turning areas shall be provided to standard and retained
 Cycle parking to be provided prior to occupation
 Construction Traffic Management Plan to be submitted and approved 
 Surface water informative
 Unilateral Undertaking required with Oxfordshire County Council to amend the 

Traffic Regulation Order for double yellow lines on Wellington Street.
 Works within the public highway will need agreement from Oxfordshire County 

Council

Page 70

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 15 Janaury 2020

3.3 County Archaeological Services (SODC) - No strong views. Conditions 
recommended:

 Prior to commencement an Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation 
shall be submitted and approved.

 Following the approval of the Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation a 
staged programme of archaeological evaluation and mitgation shall be 
commissioned and implemented in accordance with the approved Written 
Scheme of Investigation.

3.4 Contaminated Land – Approve, subject to conditions:
 The submitted preliminary risk assessment identifies contaminants of concern.  

The report does not recognise contaminative pathways associated with the 
proposed communal gardens.  These pathways along with those listed in the 
conceptual site model must be assessed through sampling of surface soils and 
rounds of gas monitoring.  

 Prior to commencement a phased risk assessment shall be carried out
 Notify Local Planning Authority about unsuspected contamination encountered 
 Informative: Chosen Building Control Body should be consulted if contamination 

is identified or if the development is being designed to be resistant to 
contamination.

3.5 Environmental Protection Team – Approve, subject to condition:
 Development should be designed, constructed and maintained to meet the 

requirements outlined in the submitted noise assessment report.

3.6 Countryside Officer (South Oxfordshire & Vale of White Horse) - No objections, 
subject to informatives:

 Wild bird informative
 Bat informative

3.7 Neighbours – no formal written comments have been received from neighbours.  
However, the case officer met the neighbour at 68 Wellington Street and viewed the 
site from their property.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P19/S0204/N1A – Prior Approval application: Approved (28/03/2019)

Change of use of an office use (Class B1(a)) to residential (Class C3) (10 x 1-bed flats).

P15/S3848/FUL – Planning application: Approved (22/12/2016)
Redevelopment of Goodsons Industrial Mews retaining existing commercial units 1A, 1, 
2, 3, 4 and 9 in employment use. Alteration of unit 1-4 to provide 4 no apartments at 
first floor. Demolition of units 5, 6, 7, 8 and erection of 8 houses, 2 maisonettes and 15 
flats (29 residential units in total). (As amended by drawings accompanying Agents 
letters dated 8 February 2016 and 11 February 2016 reducing unit numbers and 
amending design).

P15/S0749/PEJ – Planning Advice (29/04/2015)
Demolition of Units 5, 6, 7 and 8 and retention of Unit 9 in current B1 use, retention of 
Units 1, 1a, 2, 3 and 4 in current B1/B2/B8 use but with partial conversion/extension to 
provide 4 loft apartments.  Erection of 8 no. 3/4 bed town houses, 18 no. 2 bed 
apartments and 4 no. 1 bed flats.

Page 71

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0204/N1A
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S3848/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S0749/PEJ


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 15 Janaury 2020

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance 

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSTHA1  -  The Strategy for Thame
CSC1  -  Delivery and contingency
CSH1  -  Amount and distribution of housing
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSH3  -  Affordable housing
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSI1  -  Infrastructure provision
CSM1  -  Transport
CSM2  -  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans
CSQ3  -  Design
CSEN3  -  Historic environment

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
CON11  -  Protection of archaeological remains
CON12  -  Archaeological field evaluation
CON13  -  Archaeological investigation recording & publication
CON14  -  Building record survey
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D5  -  Compatible mix of uses
D6  -  Community safety
D10  -  Waste Management
E6  -  Loss of employment uses
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP2  -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP4  -  Impact on water resources
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
EP8  -  Contaminated land
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G5  -  Best use of land/buildings in built up areas
H4  -  Housing on sites within the built up areas of towns and villages
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.4 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011-2034
On 10th October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034.  The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  This means that the emerging 
plan has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  This situation is likely to change over 
the coming weeks.  

Page 72



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 15 Janaury 2020

5.5 South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) 2016
Part 2, section 3 - Parking
Part 3 (Technical documents), section 7 – Building conversions

5.6 Thame Neighbourhood Plan 2013
H5 – Integrate windfall sites
H8 – Provide affordable housing
H9 – Provide a mix of housing types
H10 – Provide a Thame-specific affordable housing and dwelling mix strategy
WS7 – Loss of employment
ESDQ11 – Sustainable Drainage
ESDQ15 – Demonstrate in Design and Access Statement how development reinforces 
Thame’s character
ESDQ16 – Development relate well to its surroundings
ESDQ17 – Development must make a positive contribution towards the distinctive 
character of the town as a whole
ESDQ18 – New development must contribute to local character
ESDQ28 – Provide good quality private outdoor space
ESDQ29 – Design car parking so that it fits in with the character of the proposed 
development

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered are: 

1. The principle of the development
2. The impact on the character and appearance of the existing building and the 

surrounding area
3. The impact on the amenities of neighbours and future occupiers of the flats
4. The impact on the highway
5. Archaeology
6. Environmental matters (contamination/noise)
7. Other matters

6.2 The principle of development

Policy E6 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) resists the redevelopment or 
change of use of redundant land or buildings in employment use to non-employment 
uses.  In Thame, Policy WS7 seeks to retain small scale employment uses in the town 
centre, and states that, ‘Proposals for the redevelopment or change of use of the 
ground floor of redundant land or buildings in employment or service trade use to non-
employment uses will only be permitted if the existing use is no longer economically 
viable and the site has been marketed for freehold or leasehold at a reasonable price
for at least a year without restriction’.  This policy is applied to all sites regardless of 
size, unlike Policy E6 which is only applied to sites of 500 square metres or more or 
over 0.25 ha.  

6.3 It is regrettable that the office space of Unit 5 would be lost as a result of the proposal.  
However, a number of factors need to be weighed in the balance in considering 
whether the loss of this unit would be sufficient to withhold planning permission for the 
scheme.   These were considered as part of planning application P15/S3848/FUL but 
are set out in the following paragraphs for information.

6.4 One of the key factors to be taken into consideration is that the Government has 
introduced permitted development rights that allow for some offices to be converted to 
residential without the need for full planning permission.  Using these permitted 

Page 73



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 15 Janaury 2020

development rights, the applicant was granted Prior Approval in March 2019 to convert 
the office to ten one-bedroom flats.  

6.5 In addition to the potential permitted development fall-back position, a Commercial 
Viability Report was submitted in support of planning application P15/S3848/FUL (for 
the demolition of Unit 5 as part of a wider redevelopment of the site for a mixture of 
residential and office/industrial).  The report painted a positive picture of the available 
employment accommodation in the wider area and the TNP allocates a minimum of 2 
ha of land for new employment.  As part of that application it was also noted that whilst 
the proposals would result in the loss of some employment buildings / land, the 
development would be mixed use, with the retention of other employment floor space 
and so the site overall would still contribute to the level of employment within Thame / 
the district.  Officers weighed up these matters, in connection with that planning 
application and had no objection to the loss of some of the commercial buildings / land 
on the site.  A condition was attached to that permission requiring the retention of the 
ground floor of Units 1a, 1 - 4 for office, research and development and light industrial 
use.    

6.6 Given that planning permission and Prior Approval have previously been granted for 
the loss of the employment floor space in Unit 5, officers consider it would be 
unreasonable for the Council to refuse planning permission on the grounds of loss of 
employment land.

6.7 Impact on character

In the opinion of officers, the proposal would be acceptable and would not harm the 
character of the building or the surrounding area, including the setting of the 
conservation area.   The alterations would improve the appearance of the building and 
better reflect the surrounding residential character of Wellington Street, and the 
proposed extension would be in keeping with the building.

6.8 Impact on amenity

The proposed extension would be positioned adjacent to the rear garden of residential 
property 68 Wellington Street.  It would project to the rear by approximately 4.7 metres 
beyond the existing single storey element of the building.  Built form at first floor level 
would also be introduced above the existing ground floor element.  The extension 
would have an eaves height of approximately 4.7 metres and a ridge height of 
approximately 7.6 metres, and it would be positioned just over 3.5 metres from the 
boundary, but officers consider this would be a sufficient distance to prevent the 
extensions from being overbearing or resulting in a harmful loss of light to the garden or 
property.

6.9 Two first floor windows proposed on the south east elevation are now proposed to be 
obscure glazed to prevent overlooking towards 68 Wellington Street.  A privacy screen 
is also proposed on the south east elevation to prevent overlooking from part of the first 
floor terrace proposed to the rear of the building.  Officers recommend conditions to 
secure these.

6.10 In relation to the privacy of the future occupiers of the proposed flats, the southern 
extent of the proposed built form would be approximately 35 metres from the front 
elevation of existing commercial buildings that lie to the south, outside of the application 
site.  This distance is greater than the 25 metre separation distance recommended by 
the South Oxfordshire Design Guide.  Officers consider the proposed flats would not 
therefore be unduly overlooked.

Page 74



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 15 Janaury 2020

6.11 The two first floor central flats have first floor windows facing into the internal courtyard / 
lightwell that serves as an amenity area for the two central ground floor flats.  It is 
proposed that upward-facing louvres would be applied to the windows of the first floor 
flats so there is no direct overlooking between the ground and first floor apartments.  
Officers recommend a condition to secure these.

6.12 Concerns have been raised by the Town Council about the internal living conditions of 
the central flats.  Officers consider the proposed flats would be acceptable in terms of 
natural light.  Whilst the building is deep in plan form, the flats have a dual aspect with 
windows to the front and rear.  In addition, windows are proposed around the courtyard 
to serve the ground floor flats and rooflights serve the top floor flats.

6.13 The proposed outdoor amenity spaces for the flats do not meet the recommended 
garden sizes set out in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide.  However, useable 
outdoor space is provided for all of the flats.  Officers consider the level of provision is 
acceptable given the town centre location. 

6.14 Impact on the highway

The applicant has addressed the concerns of the Local Highway Authority.  The County 
Council highways officer has raised no objection to the suitability of the access and is 
satisfied that the submitted technical note is acceptable in its conclusions.  The location 
of the site is highly sustainable in terms of access to local services and facilities.

6.15 The application would result in the loss of a small number of parking spaces. Thirteen 
spaces will serve the eight flats and the remaining 20 spaces will serve the retained 
commercial units (Units 1-4).  Officers are satisfied that the level of parking would be 
appropriate for the level of development on the site and consider that the development 
would be acceptable in terms of highway safety, in accordance with the SOLP policies 
D1, D2, T1 and T2 and TNP Policy ESDQ29.

6.16 The proposed alterations to the access and provision of parking along the frontage of 
the site would result in the removal of some areas of double yellow lines on Wellington 
Street.  A Unilateral Undertaking between the applicant and the County Council is 
required to enable the existing Traffic Regulation Order to be amended to reflect this 
change.

6.17 Archaeology

Policy CON13 of the SOLP requires appropriate archaeological investigation for 
developments that affect sites of archaeological importance.  The site is located within 
an area of some archaeological interest and the County archaeologist has 
recommended a staged programme of archaeological investigation ahead of any 
development.  This can be achieved through conditions.  

6.18 Environmental matters (contamination, noise)

Policy EP8 of the SOLP sets out the council’s approach to development on 
contaminated land.  The council’s contaminated land officer has considered the details 
submitted with the application and has recommended that adequate contaminated land 
investigations are carried out to ensure that the land is safe and suitable for its intended 
use.  This can be achieved through condition.  

Page 75



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 15 Janaury 2020

6.19 A condition is recommended to soundproof the proposed flats given their location 

6.20 Other matters

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

The council’s CIL charging schedule has been adopted and applied to relevant 
proposals since 1 April 2016.  CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can 
implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area 
and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the 
development.  In this case the development is CIL liable because the proposal involves 
the creation of a new residential flats.  The floorspace of the existing building can be 
deducted from the calculation.  

6.21 The CIL charge applied to new residential development in this case is £150 per square 
metre of additional floorspace (Zone 1) (index linked to April 2016).  25% of the CIL 
payment will go directly to Thame Town Council for spending towards local projects.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Although the loss of some of the employment land at Goodson Industrial Mews is 

regrettable, this loss is justified in this case.  The proposal generally complies with the 
relevant development plan policies and would not be detrimental to the character and 
appearance of the site or the surrounding conservation area, would not be 
unneighbourly, would not result in conditions prejudicial to highway safety.  When 
considered against the development plan as a whole, the proposal would represent a 
sustainable form of development.  

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions, and the 

completion of a unilateral undertaking with Oxfordshire County Council to pay 
for changes to the Traffic Regulation Order in relation to double yellow lines. 

1:   Development must commence within 3 years
2:   Development must be in accordance with the approved plans
3:    Removal of permitted development rights to convert retained commercial 
       buildings (Units 1a, 1, 2, 3 and 4) to residential use
4:   Materials used shall be those specified on the plans
5:  Two windows on first floor of the south east elevation shall be obscure    
       glazed
6:   First floor courtyard windows to be fitted with louvres to prevent overlooking
7:   Existing vehicular access onto Wellington Street to be improved to County 
       Council specification
8:   Vision splays to be provided and retained unobstructed
9:   Parking & manoeuvring areas to be provided and retained
10: Cycle parking facilities to be provided in accordance with plans
11: Construction Traffic Management (details required)
12: Landscaping scheme (including boundary treatment) must be submitted for 
       approval
13: Archaeology (Submission and implementation of Written Scheme of 
        Investigation)
14: Contaminated Land (phased risk assessment shall be submitted and 
        approved)
15:  Contamination (No occupation until approved remediation strategy 
        implemented)

Page 76



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee - 15 Janaury 2020

16:  Contamination (Notify local planning authority of unsuspected contaminated 
         land)
17:  Acoustic Insulation Building (new residential units shall be designed and 
        constructed in accordance with the approved scheme)

Author:  Victoria Clarke
Email:    Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel:        01235 422600

Page 77

mailto:Planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

P
age 79

A
genda Item

 11



Appendix BP
age 80



 

P
age 81



GSPublisherVersion 441.46.56.100

Revision

Revision ID Change ID Change Name Issue Date
P1

P3 - WIP
02/08/2019

Work in Progress

RevID ChID Change Name Date
P1

P3 -
WIP

02/08/2019

Work in Progress

Project Title

Drawing Title

Drawing Number

Drawn by Checked

Scale

Date
14/11/2019

1:50

Elevations Proposed

2504 - Goodsons Mews

@A1

PK JP

North East
Goodsons Industrial Mews

File

P3 - WIP
Planning2504/PWH/01/ELEV/DR/A/

0301/P3 - WIP

2504/PWH/01/ELEV/
DR/A/0301/P3 - WIP

00.5 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.5m
Scale 1:50

Unit 5 ELEV North East

Existing roof slatesProposed rooflight
New dormer
window

New brick garden wall
Blacked timber
panels replacedNew metal door

Existing brickwork
painted white

Bike and
bin storeNew metal window

Bike and
bin store

New hardwood
shingle facade

1:50

P
age 82



GSPublisherVersion 441.46.56.100

Revision

Revision ID Change ID Change Name Issue Date
P1

P3 - WIP
02/08/2019

Work in Progress

RevID ChID Change Name Date
P1

P3 -
WIP

02/08/2019

Work in Progress

Project Title

Drawing Title

Drawing Number

Drawn by Checked

Scale

Date
14/11/2019

1:50

Elevations Proposed

2504 - Goodsons Mews

@A1

PK JP

North West
Goodsons Industrial Mews

File

P3 - WIP
Planning2504/PWH/01/ELEV/DR/A/

0300/P3 - WIP

2504/PWH/01/ELEV/
DR/A/0300/P3 - WIP

00.5 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.5m
Scale 1:50

Unit 5 ELEV North West

Existing roof slates Proposed rooflight
Existing brickwork
painted white

New dormer
window

New brick garden wall
Blacked timber
panels replaced

New metal door
with sidelight

Existing brickwork
painted white Bike store

Stairs to first floor
apartments clad in
blackened timber.
Bin store underneath.New metal window

New inset balcony

1:50

P
age 83



GSPublisherVersion 441.46.56.100

Revision

Revision ID Change ID Change Name Issue Date
P1

P3 - WIP
02/08/2019

Work in Progress

RevID ChID Change Name Date
P1

P3 -
WIP

02/08/2019

Work in Progress

Project Title

Drawing Title

Drawing Number

Drawn by Checked

Scale

Date
14/11/2019

1:50

Elevations Proposed

2504 - Goodsons Mews

@A1

PK JP

South East
Goodsons Industrial Mews

File

P3 - WIP
Planning2504/PWH/01/ELEV/DR/A/

0302/P3 - WIP

2504/PWH/01/ELEV/
DR/A/0302/P3 - WIP

00.5 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.5m
Scale 1:50

Unit 5 ELEV South East

New roof slates
to match existingProposed rooflight

Blacked timber
panels replaced New metal door

New brickwork
painted white

Bike and
bin store

New metal window
with obscured glazing

New hardwood
shingle facade

Existing brickwork
painted white

New metal window
with obscured glazing

1:50

P
age 84



GSPublisherVersion 441.46.56.100

Revision

Revision ID Change ID Change Name Issue Date
P1

P3 - WIP
02/08/2019

Work in Progress

RevID ChID Change Name Date
P1

P3 -
WIP

02/08/2019

Work in Progress

Project Title

Drawing Title

Drawing Number

Drawn by Checked

Scale

Date
14/11/2019

1:50

Elevations Proposed

2504 - Goodsons Mews

@A1

PK JP

South West
Goodsons Industrial Mews

File

P3 - WIP
Planning2504/PWH/01/ELEV/DR/A/

0303/P3 - WIP

2504/PWH/01/ELEV/
DR/A/0303/P3 - WIP

00.5 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.5m
Scale 1:50

Unit 5 ELEV South West

Existing roof slates Proposed rooflight
Existing brickwork
painted white

New brick
garden wall Bike store

Stairs to first floor
apartments clad in
blackened timberNew metal window

New inset balcony

Stairs to first floor
apartments clad in
blackened timber Bin store

Blackened timber
cladding with vertical
posts infront

New hardwood
shingle facade

Hardwood shingles
on extension

Hardwood shingles
on existing facade

Roof slates to
match existing

New brick
garden wallBins stored under stairs

1:50

P
age 85



GSPublisherVersion 441.46.56.100

Revision

Revision ID Change ID Change Name Issue Date
P3 - WIP Work in Progress

RevID ChID Change Name Date

P3 -
WIP Work in Progress

Project Title

Drawing Title

Drawing Number

Drawn by Checked

Scale

Date
14/11/2019

1:5.79,
1:50

Sections Proposed

2504 - Goodsons Mews

@A1

PK JP

Internal Courtyard
Goodsons Industrial Mews

File

P3 - WIP
Planning2504/PWH/01/SEC A/DR/A/

0200/P3 - WIP

2504/PWH/01/SEC A/
DR/A/0200/P3 - WIP

00.5 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.5m
Scale 1:50

Unit 5 SEC A Internal Courtyard

Existing roof slates

New metal sliding
folding doors

Proposed rooflight

New windows with
privacy louvres

1:50

P
age 86



GSPublisherVersion 441.46.56.100

Revision

Revision ID Change ID Change Name Issue Date
P1

P3 - WIP
02/08/2019

Work in Progress

RevID ChID Change Name Date
P1

P3 -
WIP

02/08/2019

Work in Progress

Project Title

Drawing Title

Drawing Number

Drawn by Checked

Scale

Date
14/11/2019

1:50

GAs Plans Proposed

2504 - Goodsons Mews

@A1

PK JP

Level Ground (Unit 5)
Goodsons Industrial Mews

File

P3 - WIP
Planning2504/PWH/01/LG/DR/A/0110/

P3 - WIP

2504/PWH/01/LG/DR/
A/0110/P3 - WIP

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13

14

DOWN

U
P

12345678910111213

14

DOWN

U
P

N
or

th
 W

es
t

S
ou

th
 E

as
t

6.0 m2
6.0 m2

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment
Unit 5 D
88.3 m2

950 sq ft

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment
Unit 5 A
85.7 m2

923 sq ft

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment
Unit 5 B
76.0 m2

818 sq ft

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment
Unit 5 C
77.6 m2

835 sq ft

Bedroom
14.4 m2

155 sq ft

Bathroom
6.7 m2

72 sq ft

Bedroom
12.7 m2

137 sq ft

Kitchen/ Dining/ Living Room
34.6 m2

372 sq ft

Bedroom
15.3 m2

165 sq ft

Bathroom
7.2 m2

77 sq ft

Bedroom
12.2 m2

131 sq ft

Kitchen/ Dining/ Living Room
32.3 m2

348 sq ft

Ensuite
3.0 m2

33 sq ft

Hall
6.9 m2

74 sq ft

Hall
7.7 m2

83 sq ft

Kitchen/ Dining/ Living Room
30.3 m2

327 sq ft

Bedroom
17.2 m2

185 sq ft

Bathroom
5.6 m2

61 sq ft

Bedroom
8.5 m2

91 sq ft

Hall
4.9 m2

52 sq ft

Kitchen/ Dining/ Living Room
30.6 m2

330 sq ft

Bedroom
17.7 m2

191 sq ft

Bathroom
5.7 m2

61 sq ft

Bedroom
8.5 m2

92 sq ft

Hall
5.2 m2

56 sq ft

Ensuite
2.6 m2

28 sq ft

Garden
13.9 m2

150 sq ft

Garden
60.2 m2

648 sq ft

Garden
18.5 m2

199 sq ft

Garden
18.3 m2

198 sq ft

Garden
7.0 m2

75 sq ft

Garden
7.4 m2

79 sq ft

Ensuite
2.9 m2

31 sq ft

Ensuite
2.6 m2

28 sq ft

Garden
19.8 m2

213 sq ft

Zones Categories by Floor
Story

Level Ground

Level Ground

Level Ground

Level Ground

Level 1

Level 1

Level 1

Level 1

Unit
Unit 5 A

Unit 5 B

Unit 5 C

Unit 5 D

Unit 5 E

Unit 5 F

Unit 5 G

Unit 5 H

Apartment type
2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

Area (m2)
85.71

75.98

77.59

88.29

327.57 m²

82.14

70.82

72.48

88.29

313.73 m²

641.30 m²

N

00.5 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.5m
Scale 1:50

LG Level Ground (Unit 5) 1:50

P
age 87



GSPublisherVersion 441.46.56.100

Revision

Revision ID Change ID Change Name Issue Date
P1

P3 - WIP
02/08/2019

Work in Progress

RevID ChID Change Name Date
P1

P3 -
WIP

02/08/2019

Work in Progress

Project Title

Drawing Title

Drawing Number

Drawn by Checked

Scale

Date
14/11/2019

1:50

GAs Plans Proposed

2504 - Goodsons Mews

@A1

PK JP

Level 1 (Unit 5)
Goodsons Industrial Mews

File

P3 - WIP
Planning2504/PWH/01/L1/DR/A/0111/P3

- WIP

2504/PWH/01/L1/DR/
A/0111/P3 - WIP

N
or

th
 W

es
t

S
ou

th
 E

as
t

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment
Unit 5 F
70.8 m2

762 sq ft

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment
Unit 5 E
82.1 m2

884 sq ft

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment
Unit 5 G
72.5 m2

780 sq ft

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment
Unit 5 H
88.3 m2

950 sq ft

Bathroom
8.4 m2

90 sq ft

Bedroom
10.9 m2

118 sq ft Hall
7.1 m2

76 sq ft

Bedroom
15.9 m2

171 sq ft

Ensuite
3.0 m2

32 sq ft

Bathroom
7.5 m2

81 sq ft

Bedroom
12.6 m2

135 sq ft

Kitchen/ Dining/ Living Room
33.0 m2

355 sq ft

Hall
9.5 m2

102 sq ft

Kitchen/ Dining/ Living Room
29.2 m2

314 sq ft

Bedroom
12.6 m2

135 sq ft

Ensuite
3.7 m2

40 sq ft

Bedroom
9.7 m2

105 sq ft

Kitchen/ Dining/ Living Room
25.4 m2

273 sq ft

Bedroom
12.7 m2

137 sq ft

Ensuite
3.8 m2

40 sq ft

Bedroom
9.8 m2

105 sq ft

Bathroom
5.1 m2

55 sq ft

Bathroom
5.1 m2

55 sq ft

Kitchen/ Dining/ Living Room
25.9 m2

279 sq ft

Ensuite
2.8 m2

31 sq ft

Terrace
4.8 m2

52 sq ft

Terrace
4.8 m2

52 sq ft

Terrace
6.6 m2

71 sq ft

Bedroom
17.0 m2

183 sq ft

Terrace
10.6 m2

114 sq ft

Zones Categories by Floor
Story

Level Ground

Level Ground

Level Ground

Level Ground

Level 1

Level 1

Level 1

Level 1

Unit
Unit 5 A

Unit 5 B

Unit 5 C

Unit 5 D

Unit 5 E

Unit 5 F

Unit 5 G

Unit 5 H

Apartment type
2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

Area (m2)
85.71

75.98

77.59

88.29

327.57 m²

82.14

70.82

72.48

88.29

313.73 m²

641.30 m²

N

00.5 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.5m
Scale 1:50

L1 Level 1 (Unit 5) 1:50

P
age 88



GSPublisherVersion 441.46.56.100

Revision

Revision ID Change ID Change Name Issue Date
P1

P3 - WIP
02/08/2019

Work in Progress

RevID ChID Change Name Date
P1

P3 -
WIP

02/08/2019

Work in Progress

Project Title

Drawing Title

Drawing Number

Drawn by Checked

Scale

Date
14/11/2019

1:50

GAs Plans Proposed

2504 - Goodsons Mews

@A1

PK JP

Level Roof (Unit 5)
Goodsons Industrial Mews

File

P3 - WIP
Planning2504/PWH/01/LR/DR/A/0112/

P3 - WIP

2504/PWH/01/LR/DR/
A/0112/P3 - WIP

N
or

th
 W

es
t

S
ou

th
 E

as
t

Zones Categories by Floor
Story

Level Ground

Level Ground

Level Ground

Level Ground

Level 1

Level 1

Level 1

Level 1

Unit
Unit 5 A

Unit 5 B

Unit 5 C

Unit 5 D

Unit 5 E

Unit 5 F

Unit 5 G

Unit 5 H

Apartment type
2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

2 Bed (4 People) Apartment

Area (m2)
85.71

75.98

77.59

88.29

327.57 m²

82.14

70.82

72.48

88.29

313.73 m²

641.30 m²

N

00.5 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.5m
Scale 1:50

LR Level Roof (Unit 5) 1:50

P
age 89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

APPLICATION NO. P19/S0596/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 8.3.2019
PARISH HENLEY-ON-THAMES
WARD MEMBERS Ken Arlett

Kellie Hinton
Stefan Gawrysiak

APPLICANT Ms Emma Lawrenson
SITE Chiltern House 45 Station Road, Henley-on-

Thames, RG9 1AT
PROPOSAL Erection of a 3 bedroom apartment on the flat roof of 

the existing office building, using factory built 
modular construction techniques (revised plans 
received 12th November 2019, reducing the scale of 
the proposed building and amending the design; 
correction to eastern elevation, roof plan and 
balustrade detail on 6th December 2019)

OFFICER Simon Kitson

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to planning committee as the officer’s recommendation of 

approval conflicts with the views of Henley Town Council.

1.2 The application site as shown at Appendix A is comprised of an existing office block 
erected in the early 1970s and located within a line of mixed residential and 
commercial properties accessed off Station Road, Henley-on-Thames. There are no 
designated heritage assets on the application site. However, it is adjacent to the 
Henley Conservation Area and close to the grade-II listed Imperial Hotel parade. 

1.3 In 2018, planning permission was granted for an apartment block with a contemporary 
form and finish at the property immediately to the south of the site. This has now been 
constructed.  

2.0 PROPOSAL 
2.1 As detailed in the application submission, this proposal seeks consent for an extension 

above the existing building in order to provide a residential apartment. Changes are 
also proposed to the external finish of the existing building at the west elevation facing 
towards Queen Street. 

2.2 The extension would have a height measuring approximately 2.9m from the existing 
roof and it would have an area of approximately 180 sq.m, with partial roof overhangs 
at the front and rear. The external finish would mostly comprise larch and brick slip 
cladding with areas of glazing and a rendered strip at the front elevation. A roof terrace 
of approximately 90 sq.m would be enclosed by a frosted glass balustrade.

2.3 The current proposed site plans, elevations and floor plans are attached as Appendix 
B, and other documentation associated with the application can be viewed on the 
council’s website, www.southoxon.gov.uk. 

Page 91

Agenda Item 12

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S0596/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Henley-on-Thames Town Council – Objection

 although the applicant has greatly improved the facade of the building, refusal is 
recommended due to overlooking, loss of light, visual intrusion, loss of privacy 
and the impact on the adjacent Conservation Area.

 The amendments have not addressed the concerns previously expressed

Conservation Officer (South) - No objection following amendments
 No in principle objection to the proposal on heritage grounds. However, the 

initial proposal would have had too stark a contrast between the utilitarian 
building and the contemporary extension. A holistic design approach to the 
whole building is necessary to lessen the visual impact of the building in the 
wider setting of the Conservation Area. 

 Following the amendment, the revised detailing and reduced proportions of the 
roof top extension have improved the appearance of the building, particularly in 
the glimpsed views from the Conservation Area within Queen Street. this 
presents a more holistic approach to the building's appearance and represents 
an enhancement to the setting of the conservation area.

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No strong views
 the proposal is unlikely to result in any significant intensification of transport 

activity at the site. The proposal is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact 
on the highway network.

The Henley Society
 The Henley Society maintains its objection, despite the reduction in scale. No 

upward extension of the building should be allowed.
 The houses particularly affected are of special architectural interest and are in a 

Conservation Area

Comments in support (3)
 The proposal is sensitive to the surrounding context

Neighbour Object (10) – Key issues raised:
 The proposal would add significant bulk to an already graceless building.
 Even with the amendments, the balconies would overlook the gardens and living 

accommodation at a number of surrounding properties along Queen Street and 
Queens Close.

 The proposed extension would result in losses of daylight and sunlight. 
 The additional accommodation and the terrace area would result in light and 

noise pollution
 The proposal is an unnecessary overdevelopment adding to the impact upon 

the street scene already arising from the Cherwell House redevelopment. 
 The existing building is commercial and should remain as such.
 The amendments would make the proposed building less overbearing, by 

reducing the floor area and volume. However, this concession would be 
outweighed by the size of the roof terrace proposed.

 The extension would still add to the sense of enclosure experienced by the 
Queen Street residents.

Neighbour No Strong Views (1)

Page 92



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P15/S2114/PDO - Approved (28/08/2015)

Conversion of offices to residential.

P02/S0194 - Approved (28/06/2002)
Provision of external lighting to disabled ramp and car park (as clarified by agent's letter 
dated 1 March 2002).

P01/S0616 - Approved (31/10/2001)
General refurbishment including new front and rear elevations and installation of 
acoustic screen to air conditioning units on roof (as amended by drawing no.1256:7D 
accompanying agent's letter dated 11 September 2001).

P01/S0066 - Approved (29/06/2001)
General refurbishment including new front and rear elevations and installation of 4 no. 
air conditioning units.  (As amended by drawing nos.1256:13 and 1256:14 
accompanying agent's letter dated 17 April 2001).

P72/H1193 - Approved (02/07/1973)
Erection of 9,999 sq.ft. Office block and 16 car parking spaces.

P71/H0726 - Approved (17/12/1971)
Erection of a 9,999 sq.ft. Office block and car park for 16 cars and access road. 
Pedestrian and vehicular access.

P70/H0283 - Approved (29/10/1970)
Offices and car parking space and alter accesses

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 Joint Henley and Harpsden Neighbourhood Plan (JHNNP)

Housing Strategy
Primary Housing Objectives H04
Policy H4 -  Infill and self-build dwellings
Policy DSQ1 – Local Character
Policy T1 – Impact of development upon the transport network

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) Policies;

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSHEN1  -  The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames
CSQ3  -  Design
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;

CON5  -  Setting of listed building
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D5  -  Compatible mix of uses
E6  -  Loss of employment uses
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development

Page 93

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S2114/PDO
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P02/S0194
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P01/S0616
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P01/S0066
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P72/H1193
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P71/H0726
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P70/H0283


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

G3  -  Development well served by facilities and transport
H4  -  Housing on sites within the built up areas of towns and villages
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.4 Emerging Local Plan 2034

On 10 October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034. The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.This means that the emerging plan 
has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A(2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The emerging Local Plan holds no 
weight at present.

5.5 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.6 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues for assessment in this application are as follows:- 

1. The principle 
2. The impact upon the street scene 
3. The impact upon the setting of the Henley Main Conservation Area 
4. The impact upon the residential amenity of the neighbouring properties.  
5. The impact upon highway safety

Principle

6.2 The site is within the built-up limits of the settlement and the proposal would both retain 
an employment site whilst making more efficient use of previously developed land. 
Given that the site is within the town centre and in a highly sustainable location, 
benefitting from public transport links and access to key services and facilities within 
walking distance of the site, officers consider the principle of a dwelling in this location 
to be acceptable, subject to compliance with other Development Plan policies relating 
to visual and neighbouring amenity. 

Scale, design and heritage

6.3 The built form surrounding the development site is highly varied in terms of age, height, 
detailing, fenestration arrangement, external finishes and heights. Many properties to 
the south side of Station Road are of mid to late C20 construction and to the northern 
side, contemporary additions sit alongside Arts & Crafts and Victorian-era buildings. 
This includes the Cherwell House development next to the application site, which has a 
very contemporary appearance when set against the Grade-II listed Imperial Hotel 
buildings.

6.4 Although there is some support for the scheme expressed within the consultation 
responses, most respondents, including the Town Council, raise issues with the 
scheme. These include concerns over the appearance of the proposed extension within 

Page 94



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

the street scene and its relationship with the Henley Main Conservation Area which is in 
close proximity to the site. 

6.5 This application has been amended following a number of concerns raised over the 
course of the application. This includes reductions in the built footprint and changes to 
the external detailing, with the building now recessed further behind the main 
elevations. As a result of the changes, officers consider that there would be a significant 
reduction in the bulk and massing within views from Station Road, to the extent that it 
would not appear overly visually prominent when appraised against the two larger 
adjacent buildings. It would also have significantly less impact within public views 
between the buildings along Queen Street. The proposed materials would broadly 
reflect the character of the existing building and the surrounding built form. 

Response from the Conservation and Design Team 

6.6 With regard to the heritage impact, advice was sought from the council’s Conservation 
and Design Team and they were involved in discussions over the amended design. 

6.7 The conservation officer did consider that the proposal in its initial form would fail to 
respect the wider historic environment, due to the scale and design. However, the 
subsequent changes to the scheme propose setting the extension back from the 
western elevation by 5m and introducing materials more in keeping with the character 
of the existing building. Furthermore, the areas of larch cladding would be extended to 
cover some of the less visually-appealing aspects of the existing building, including 
concrete strips and large commercial extraction units. Officers now consider that the 
proposal represents an enhancement to the setting of the conservation area. There 
would be no conflict with Policy DQS1 of the JHHNP, Policy CSEN3 of the SOCS or 
Policy D1 of the SOLP.

Neighbouring amenity

6.8 It is noted that objections have been received in relation to the impact upon the gardens 
and living accommodation at the Queen Street properties to the west and the Queens 
Close terrace to the north. Officers do accept that the extension would be visible from 
these dwellings to varying degrees, but would stress that the impact upon private views 
is not a material planning consideration. Neighbouring amenity for this scale of proposal  
is generally considered in terms of losses of daylight, sunlight or privacy. 

6.9 With regard to daylight and sunlight, the applicant has provided a commissioned report 
assessing the original proposal against the Building Research Establishment (BRE) 
guidelines. This has been uploaded to the website. It is important to note that this was 
undertaken prior to the amendments reducing the scale of the proposal. 

Daylight

6.10 The report concludes that the proposed development has very little impact on the 
Vertical Sky Component (VSC) at the windows of the neighbouring properties, with all 
but three of the neighbouring windows assessed either experiencing no effect or a 
minimal reduction in light; meeting the BRE guidance. It was noted that an affected 
window at no. 29 was below standard, but this was mainly due to an existing balcony 
feature. Officers inspected this room and note that the outlook is already very poor due 
to the extent of projection by the existing structure. 

6.11 Similarly, for Daylight Distribution (DD) the proposed development was found to have 
very little impact on neighbouring properties with all but four of the neighbouring rooms 

Page 95



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

assessed either experiencing no effect or a minimal reduction in light. The affect on the 
rooms classed as having a ‘marginal’ impact is likely to be lessened by the new 5m 
setback of the extension from the shared boundary with these properties. 

Sunlight

6.12 With regard to Available Sunlight Hours (ASH) the originally proposed development 
was found to have very little impact on neighbouring properties with all but two of the 
neighbouring windows assessed, which face within 90 degrees of south, either 
experiencing no effect or a minimal reduction in light; meeting the BRE
guidance for available sunlight hours.

6.13 In terms of overshadowing of amenity spaces, the report found that 50% of the 
neighbouring garden areas would continue to benefit from at least 2 hours sunlight at 
the Spring equinox or would not experience a level of less than 0.8 of the former value.   

6.14 Officers do not have sufficient evidence to dispute these findings and consider that the 
amendments can only lessen the impact.  

Privacy

6.15 With regard to the properties at the Queens Close terrace, it is noted that the dwellings 
are already faced by 3 storeys of large window openings serving offices used by 
several businesses. There is also an intervening carpark separating the two buildings. 
Having inspected the site and viewed the neighbouring properties from the roof, officers 
note that there is little or no visibility inside the neighbouring rooms and no significant 
visibility of the neighbours’ gardens due to the distance and boundary conditions. The 
proposed windows would be set back from the existing building line by around 1.4m 
and the balcony enclosure would have limited depth, making it unlikely to be used for 
extended periods. Whilst is accepted that there is a perception of loss of privacy, 
officers do not consider that there would be an unacceptable level of overlooking as a 
result of the development. 

6.16 With regard to the impact upon the Queen Street properties, officers note the 
applicant’s point that there would be a separating distance well in excess of the 12m 
recommended within Section 7 of the SODG. It is also noted that there are existing 
clear-glazed doors allowing some visibility of the neighbouring properties from inside 
the existing building. Officers do accept that the 5m setback of the building from the 
west elevation would significantly reduce the perceived overlooking from the new 
windows serving the proposed extension in addition to reducing the impact upon the 
neighbours’ outlook. 

6.17 Officers do accept that the terrace area would be visible from the upper-storey 
accommodation of a number of dwellings along Queen Street. It is not entirely clear 
how far the balustrade would be set back from the western elevation based on the 
scale of the elevations, but it measures close to 2m on the floor plan. A condition 
should be imposed specifying the distance if the committee are minded to grant 
approval. 

6.18 Officers consider, on balance, that a 2m setback would be sufficient to ensure that 
there would not be a significant visibility of the neighbouring gardens along Queen 
Street. Having viewed these properties from the roof of the development site, officers 
are satisfied that the levels of visibility inside the neighbouring bedrooms and kitchens 
would be negligible and the distances are sufficient to ensure that there would not be a 
materially harmful loss of privacy or other disturbances associated with the use of the 

Page 96



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2020

terrace as a private amenity area. The proposal is considered to be in accordance with 
the relevant parts of SOLP Policy D4 and H4.

Highway safety

6.19 There is no objection from the Local Highways Authority (LHA) on the basis that 
adequate parking provision exists for the existing business and the proposed dwelling. 
There are also strict parking controls within the locality and the property falls within a 
location benefitting from walkable distances to key services and public transport links. 
There is no conflict with SOLP Polices T1, T2 or D2.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

6.20 The council’s CIL charging schedule applies to relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. 
CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver 
infrastructure and to support the development of their area, and is primarily calculated 
on the increase in footprint created as a result of the development. In this case CIL 
would be liable for the construction of the apartment.   

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal broadly complies with the relevant Development Plan policies and 

national planning guidance. The proposed extension to the existing building would 
make more efficient use of land within a highly sustainable town centre location. 
Officers consider that the proposed design would respond appropriately to the 
character of the street scene and the wider historic environment. The proposal is also 
considered acceptable in terms of the impact upon neighbouring amenity and highway 
safety.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 Grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions: 

1: Commencement of development within three years.
2: Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
3: Materials to be as specified within the submitted schedule, unless otherwise 
     agreed in writing. 
4: Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, an obscure-
     glazed balustrade shall be installed at a minimum of 2m from the building line 
     at the western edge of the existing roof parapet. It shall be retained as such 
     thereafter. No access shall be formed onto the remainder of the roof space.

Author: Simon Kitson
Tel:        01235 422600
Email:    Planning@southoxon.gov.uk

 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Page 99

Agenda Item 12



Boutique Modern Ltd
Unit 3, Newhaven Industrial Park 
Beach Rd,
Newhaven,
BN9 0BX

T: 01273 911076
www.boutiquemodern.co.uk

Disclaimer- The information contained within this 
drawing is the property of the issuing company. It may 
not be used, transmitted or reproduced, in whole or in 
part, without prior consent from the issuing company.

11
00

INITIALDETAILSDATEREV

DATEDRAWN CHKED

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

REVISIONDRAWING NUMBERJOB NUMBER

PROJECT

CLIENT

Boutique Modern
3 Newhaven Industrial Park
Beach Road, Newhaven, East Sussex
BN9 0BX
E : info@boutiquemodern.co.uk
T : 01273 911076

March 2019-TB1/25 @ A1

Window schedule

Chiltern house

Chiltern House
Balustrade Height - 33 Queen street
For Planning Scale:

Drawn By:
1:10 @ A1
TB

Balustrade height set at 
1100mm off exterior finish floor 
height

Appendix B

P
age 100



Boutique Modern Ltd
Unit 3, Newhaven Industrial Park 
Beach Rd,
Newhaven,
BN9 0BX

T: 01273 911076
www.boutiquemodern.co.uk

Disclaimer- The information contained within this 
drawing is the property of the issuing company. It may 
not be used, transmitted or reproduced, in whole or in 
part, without prior consent from the issuing company.

Existing East Elevation 
Scale: 1:200 @ A1

Proposed East Elevation 
Scale: 1:200 @ A1

South East

West North

1m 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

N

INITIALDETAILSDATEREV

DATEDRAWN CHKED

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

REVISIONDRAWING NUMBERJOB NUMBER

PROJECT

CLIENT

Boutique Modern
3 Newhaven Industrial Park
Beach Road, Newhaven, East Sussex
BN9 0BX
E : info@boutiquemodern.co.uk
T : 01273 911076

August 2018-TB1/25 @ A1

Chiltern House
Rev 4-Existing and Proposed Elevations
For Planning Scale:

Drawn By:
1:200 @ A1
TB

Drawing No: 030

P
age 101



Boutique Modern Ltd
Unit 3, Newhaven Industrial Park 
Beach Rd,
Newhaven,
BN9 0BX

T: 01273 911076
www.boutiquemodern.co.uk

Disclaimer- The information contained within this 
drawing is the property of the issuing company. It may 
not be used, transmitted or reproduced, in whole or in 
part, without prior consent from the issuing company.

Existing South Elevation 
Scale: 1:200 @ A1

Proposed South Elevation 
Scale: 1:200 @ A1

1m 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Chiltern House
Rev 1-Existing and Proposed Elevations
For Planning Scale:

Drawn By:

1:200 @ A1
TB

Drawing No: 040

P
age 102



Boutique Modern Ltd
Unit 3, Newhaven Industrial Park 
Beach Rd,
Newhaven,
BN9 0BX

T: 01273 911076
www.boutiquemodern.co.uk

Disclaimer- The information contained within this 
drawing is the property of the issuing company. It may 
not be used, transmitted or reproduced, in whole or in 
part, without prior consent from the issuing company.

Existing West Elevation 
Scale: 1:200 @ A1

Proposed West Elevation 
Scale: 1:200 @ A1

Existing North Elevation 
Scale: 1:200 @ A1

Proposed North Elevation 
Scale: 1:200 @ A1

1m 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Chiltern House
Rev 1-Existing and Proposed Elevations
For Planning Scale:

Drawn By:

1:200 @ A1
TB

Drawing No: 020

P
age 103



P
age 104



P
age 105



Boutique Modern Ltd
Unit 3, Newhaven Industrial Park 
Beach Rd,
Newhaven,
BN9 0BX

T: 01273 911076
www.boutiquemodern.co.uk

Disclaimer- The information contained within this 
drawing is the property of the issuing company. It may 
not be used, transmitted or reproduced, in whole or in 
part, without prior consent from the issuing company.

Chiltern House
rev 1 Access
For Planning 

Drawing No: 090

South
East

W
est

North

1m
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
10

N

IN
ITIA

L
D

E
TA

ILS
D

A
TE

R
E

V

D
A

TE
D

R
A

W
N

C
H

K
E

D

D
R

A
W

IN
G

 TITLE

S
C

A
LE

R
E

VIS
IO

N
D

R
A

W
IN

G
 N

U
M

B
E

R
JO

B
 N

U
M

B
E

R

P
R

O
JE

C
T

C
LIE

N
T

B
outique M

odern
3 N

ew
haven Industrial Park

B
each R

oad, N
ew

haven, East Sussex
B

N
9 0B

X
E : info@

boutiquem
odern.co.uk

T : 01273 911076

August 2018
-

TB
1/25 @

 A1

South East

West North

1m 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

N

INITIALDETAILSDATEREV

DATEDRAWN CHKED

DRAWING TITLE

SCALE

REVISIONDRAWING NUMBERJOB NUMBER

PROJECT

CLIENT

Boutique Modern
3 Newhaven Industrial Park
Beach Road, Newhaven, East Sussex
BN9 0BX
E : info@boutiquemodern.co.uk
T : 01273 911076

August 2018-TB1/25 @ A1

existing lift extended 
to penthouse with 
secure access

Rev 2 - Access

P
age 106



P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2019

APPLICATION NO. P19/S2313/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 22.7.2019
PARISH STOKE ROW
WARD MEMBERS Lorraine Hillier

Jo Robb
APPLICANT Mr Stow
SITE Land adjacent to Village Green, Newlands Lane 

Stoke Row, RG9 5PS
PROPOSAL Providing additional boundary treatment and 

amending garden levels following previous consent 
(as amended to reduce the proposed levels and 
realign fence)

OFFICER Tom Wyatt

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to Planning Committee due to a conflict between the 

Officers’ recommendation and the views of Stoke Row Parish Council.  

1.2 The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) has 
been developed to provide two detached dwellings following the grant of planning 
permission P18/S0560/FUL.  The site is located within the Stoke Row Conservation 
Area and is surrounded by existing housing to the north, east and partially to the 
south.  The site also borders the village green to the south and Newlands Lane to the 
west.  Stoke Row lies within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB).  

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This application seeks planning permission for alterations to the ground levels within 

the rear garden of Plot 1 and new 1.8 metre high close board fencing on the northern 
and eastern boundaries of Plot 1.  The need for this application has arisen as the 
proposed levels and fencing are different to levels and fencing approved in relation to 
planning permission P18/S0560/FUL. 

2.2 The levels now proposed and as shown on the drawing accompanying the application 
indicate that the levels on the northern and eastern boundaries of the rear garden of 
Plot 1 would be approximately 200mm higher than those approved.  A 1.8 metre close 
board fence is also proposed along the eastern and northern boundaries of Plot 1.
  

2.3 A copy of the plans accompanying the application is attached as Appendix B.  Other 
documentation relating to the application can be viewed on the council’s website, 
www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Stoke Row Parish Council – Objects as the close board fencing is considered not to be 

appropriate in the Conservation Area and would block light to the annex of Primrose 
Cottage. 

Neighbours – 4 representations have been received raising the following objections: 
- Raised levels have caused overlooking of adjacent properties 
- Potential issues with water runoff to neighbouring properties

Page 109

Agenda Item 13

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P19/S2313/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2019

- Position of fence would cause loss of light to Primrose Cottage
- Close board fencing to the front of Plot 1 would impact on the Conservation 

Area
- Levels information is not clear enough

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P18/S4122/FUL - Approved (08/07/2019)

New garage to serve Plot 1 of the two dwellings previously approved and currently 
under construction (as amended to reposition the garage and omit the garage to Plot 2)

P18/S1796/DIS - Approved (29/05/2019)
Discharge of conditions 3 - levels, 4 - materials, 5 - materials, 8 - details spoil removal, 
15 - landscaping, 16 - boundary walls and fences, 17 - landscape management plan 
and 18 - tree protection on application ref. P18/S0560/FUL 

Erection of 2 new dwellings based on previously approved scheme (as amended to 
revise fenestration details)

P18/S0560/FUL - Approved (23/05/2018)
Erection of 2 new dwellings based on previously approved scheme (as amended to 
revise fenestration details)
related to P17/S2845/FUL

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies;

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSQ3  -  Design
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP 2011) policies;
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
EP2  -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development

5.3 Emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2034
On 10th October 2019 the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local 
Government issued a Holding Direction on the Council in relation to the emerging Local 
Plan 2034. The holding direction has been made under the provisions of Section 21A of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. This means that the emerging plan 
has 'no effect whilst the direction is in force', this is set out in section 21A (2) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

5.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

Page 110

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S4122/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S1796/DIS
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/S0560/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2019

5.5 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main planning considerations in relation to this application are: 

1. Impact on the character and appearance of the site and surrounding area
2. Impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers
3. Other material considerations

6.2

Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Site and Surrounding Area

The site is in a sensitive location having regard to being within the Stoke Row 
Conservation Area and Chilterns AONB.  In relation to development within a 
conservation area, Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 states that ‘special attention shall be paid to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area’.  This is reflected by 
Policy CON7 of the SOLP, which states that development will not be permitted which 
would harm the character or appearance of a conservation area.  

6.3 Policy CSEN3 of the SOCS states that the district’s historic heritage assets (including 
Conservation Areas) will be conserved and enhanced for their historic significance and 
their important contribution to local distinctiveness, character and sense of place.  
Guidance within the NPPF also seeks to manage the planning of the historic 
environment in an appropriate way and it states at Para. 192; 

In determining applications, local planning authorities should take account of:

(a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

(b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and

(c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness.

6.4 The ground level changes proposed are to the rear garden of Plot 1.  This part of the 
site borders private gardens and there are no public views into the site.  As such the 
visual impact of the level changes is imperceptible in public views.  The level changes 
are also modest in scale having regard to the pre-existing levels and do not materially 
alter the character and appearance of the approved development either within the site 
area or within the context of the surrounding Conservation Area.  As such I consider 
that the level changes proposed would preserve the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area. 

6.5 The approved boundary details include 1.8 metre high close board fencing separating 
the rear gardens of Plots 1 and 2.  Otherwise the northern and eastern boundaries of 
Plot 1 was shown to comprise the retention of existing chestnut pale fencing and the 
boundary vegetation.  Importantly the current proposed does not seek to remove the 
boundary vegetation but adds 1.8 metre high close board fencing along these 
boundaries.  The fencing on the northern and eastern boundaries of the rear garden of 
Plot 1 would not be visible in public views and would have an imperceptible impact on 
the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  The close board fencing 

Page 111



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2019

extending to the front of the dwelling on Plot 1 is potentially more visible but would also 
be well screened from public view by the existing and proposed vegetation on the 
boundary of the site with Newlands Lane and within the site’s frontage, and by the 
garage approved to the front of Plot 1.  The fencing would be viewed in context with the 
dwelling and its wider garden area and would not appear unduly prominent or 
incongruous in this residential setting.  

6.6 Permitted development rights for the erection of means of enclosure were not removed 
on the grant of planning permission P18/S0560/FUL.  Therefore, having regard to Part 
2, Class A of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 (as amended) I am mindful that the close board fencing could be erected in 
addition to the fencing approved in relation to planning permission P18/S0560/FUL in 
any event, and therefore, the council has very limited control over the erection of the 
close board fencing as proposed.  

6.7

Impact on the Amenity of Neighbouring Occupiers

The raising of the ground levels to Plot 1 has the potential to affect the amenity of the 
immediate neighbouring occupiers at Primrose Cottage to the north and White House to 
the east.  The submitted plans indicate that the levels now proposed would be 
approximately 200mm higher at these boundaries than the original ground levels.  
Having regard to this modest increase in the height of the ground levels and the 
retention of the existing vegetation on these boundaries I do not consider that the 
impact of the increased levels on the amenity of the neighbouring occupiers would be 
significant particularly in the context of the previous proposal to retain the visually 
permeable chestnut pale fencing on these boundaries.  The addition of the close board 
fencing would provide effective screening between the site and neighbouring gardens. 

6.8 The close board fencing would wrap around the eastern and southern elevations of an 
existing annex building to Primrose Cottage.  This would have a negative impact on the 
levels of light within the building.  However, the affected windows lie immediately on the 
boundary with the application site and the owner of the application site would be quite 
entitled to undertake planting adjacent to these windows to screen his property.  
Indeed, vegetation adjacent to the south facing window of the annex was previously in 
place on the site and would have affected light levels through this window.  
Furthermore, as already outlined above fencing of the height proposed can be erected 
under permitted development rights.  Therefore, whilst the fencing would affect the 
windows of the annex, I do not consider that this can justify the refusal of the 
application given the strong fallback position which would also screen these windows 
from the application site. 

6.9

Other Material Considerations

The ground level changes on the boundaries of the site are modest and are unlikely to 
have any significant impact on the adjacent vegetation.   The original ground levels 
already sloped down towards the eastern boundary of the site, and the modest change 
in levels proposed is also unlikely to cause any material impact in respect of surface 
water runoff from the site.   

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The application proposal would comply with the relevant Development Plan Policies, 

Supplementary Planning Guidance and Government Guidance and it is considered that 
the proposed development would preserve the character and appearance of the Stoke 
Row Conservation Area and would not detract from the residential amenity of adjoining 
occupiers. 

Page 112



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 15 January 2019

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant Planning Permission subject to the following condition:

1: Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans.

Author: Tom Wyatt
Email: Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel: 01235 422600

 

Page 113

mailto:Planning@southoxon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Page 115

Agenda Item 13



Appendix B

P
age 116


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meetings
	Minutes Public Pack, 18/12/2019 Planning Committee
	Minutes


	8 P19/S0058/FUL - Land to the south of Creek End, Abingdon Road, Burcot, OX14 3DJ
	Appendices 1-2
	Appendix 1 Location Plan drwgno LOC001
	Appendix 2a Site Plan drwgno S2.P.02 rev B
	Appendix 2b Ground and First Floor Plan Proposed drwgno S2.P.03 A
	Appendix 2c Elevations Proposed drgno S2.P.04
	Appendix 2d Floor Plan and Elevations Garage Proposed drwgno S2.P.05


	9 P19/S2517/FUL - The Old Post Office, 5 Wharf Road, Shillingford, OX10 7EW
	Appendices 1-2
	1 LOC Plan drwgno 001
	2 Site Plan drwgno 002
	2a Composite Proposed drwgno 190105-01 A


	10 P19/S2305/RM - Land off Cat Lane, Stadhampton
	Appendices 1-2
	1. Site location
	2. Block plan
	3. Plot 1
	4. Plot 2
	5. Garage


	11 P19/S2720/FUL - Unit 5, Goodson Industrial Mews, Wellington Street, Thame, OX9 3BX
	Appendices A-B
	1 Location plan
	2 Site Plan Existing drwgno 2504PWH01LRDRA0001P1
	3 Site plan proposed
	4 Elevations North East Proposed drwgno 2504PWH01ELEVDRA0301P3
	5 Elevations North West Proposed drwgno 2504PWH01ELEVDRA0300P3
	6 Elevations South East Proposed drwgno 2504PWH01ELEVDRA0302P3
	7 Elevations South West Proposed drwgno 2504PWH01ELEVDRA0303P3
	8 Internal Courtyard Sections drwgno 2504PWH01SECADRA0200P3
	9 Ground Floor Plans Proposed drwgno 2504PWH01LGDRA0110P3
	10 Level 1 Proposed drwgno 2504PWH01L1DRA0111P3
	11 Roof Plan Proposed drwgno 2504PWH01LRDRA0112P3


	12 P19/S0596/FUL - Chiltern House, 45 Station Road, Henley-on-Thames, RG9 1AT
	Appendices A-B
	1 GIS
	Balustrade Height Details drwgno OP1
	Elevations East Existing and Proposed drwgno 030 Rev 4
	Elevations South drwgno 040 rev 1
	Elevations West & East drwgno 020 rev 1
	Floor Plan Proposed drwgno 050 rev 1
	Materials drwgno 100
	Roof Plan Proposed drwgno 070 Rev 2
	Sight Line Queen Close and West facade materials


	13 P19/S2313/FUL - Land adjacent to Village Green, Newlands Lane, Stoke Row, RG9 5PS
	Appendices A-B
	1 Location Plan
	2 Level & Fence Position drwgno A1 B





